
 

Lloyd White 
Head of Democratic Services 
London Borough of Hillingdon, 
3E/05, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW 
www.hillingdon.gov.uk 

   

Cabinet 

 

   

Date: THURSDAY, 28 MAY 2009 
 

Time: 7.00 PM 
 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 6 - 
CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH 
STREET, UXBRIDGE, UB8 
1UW 

  
Meeting 
Details: 

Members of the Public and 
Press are welcome to attend 
this meeting  
 

 

 
 
Councillors in the Cabinet: 
 
Ray Puddifoot (Chairman) 
Leader of the Council 
 

David Simmonds (Vice-Chairman) 
Deputy Leader / 
Education & Children’s Services 
 

Jonathan Bianco 
Finance & Business Services 
 

Keith Burrows 
Planning & Transportation 
 

Philip Corthorne 
Social Services, Health & Housing 
 

Henry Higgins 
Culture, Sport & Leisure 
 

Sandra Jenkins 
Environment 
 

Douglas Mills 
Improvement, Partnerships & Community 
Safety 
 

Scott Seaman-Digby 
Co-ordination & Central Services 

  
 
Published: Tuesday, 19th May 2009 
 

 
 
This agenda and associated 
reports can be made available in 
other languages, in Braille, large 
print or on audio tape on 
request.  Please contact us for 
further information.  
 

 Contact: Mark Braddock 
Tel: 01895 250472 
Fax: 01895 277373 
Email: mbraddock@hillingdon.gov.uk 

This Agenda is available online at:  
http://lbh-modgov:9071/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=115 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Useful information 
 
Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at 
the Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, 
with the Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a 
short walk away. Limited parking is available at 
the Civic Centre. For details on availability and 
how to book a parking space, please contact 
Democratic Services 
 
Please enter from the Council’s main reception 
where you will be directed to the Committee 
Room. An Induction Loop System is available for 
use in the various meeting rooms. Please contact 
us for further information.  
 
Please switch off any mobile telephones and 
BlackBerries™ before the meeting. Any 
recording of the meeting is not allowed, either 
using electronic, mobile or visual devices.  
 
If there is a FIRE in the building the alarm will 
sound continuously. If there is a BOMB ALERT 
the alarm sounds intermittently. Please make your way to the nearest FIRE EXIT.    
 

 



 

 

Agenda 
 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 

2 Declarations of Interest in matters coming before this meeting  
 

3 To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 16 April 2009 1 - 10 
 

4 To confirm that the items of business marked Part 1 will be 
considered in Public and that the items marked Part 2 will be 
considered in private 

 
 

 

 
Cabinet Reports - Part 1 - Members, Public and the Press 
 

5 Residents' and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee - 
Review of CCTV Strategy (Cllr Mills) 

11 - 38 
 

6 Older People's Plan - Update 2008/09 (Cllr Puddifoot) 39 - 82 
 

7 Changes to the Housing Allocation Policy (Cllr Corthorne) 83 - 94 
 

8 Gift Funding for Planning Functions (Cllr Burrows) 95 - 100 
 

9 Former National Air Traffic Services Site - Draft Supplementary 
Planning Document (Cllr Burrows) 

101 - 182 
 



 

 
Cabinet Reports - Part II - Not for Publication, Members Only 
 

10 Acceptance of Tender for a two storey for classroom extension at 
Pinkwell Primary School (Cllr Bianco) 

183 - 192 
 

11 Roll Out of Phase II of the Libraries Refurbishment Programme         
(Cllr Higgins) 

193 - 200 
 

12 Extension of Frays Care and Repair Agency Contract (Cllr Corthorne) 201 - 206 
 

13 Mental Health Modernisation Programme - Phase 3 (Cllr Corthorne) 207 - 216 
 

14 Spring Contract Extension - administrative and clerical agency staff 
(Cllr Seaman-Digby) 

217 - 220 
 

15 Matrix Contract Extension - professional and technical agency staff 
(Cllr Seaman-Digby) 

221 - 226 
 

 
The reports listed above in Part 2 are not made public because they contain exempt information under 
paragraph Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as 
amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing it. 
 

16 Any Items transferred from Part 1  
 

17 Any Other Business in Part 2  
 



 
Cabinet Minutes – 16 April 2009 

 

 

Cabinet Minutes 
 

16 April 2009 
 

 
 
The left hand column indicates the item number of the report on the Cabinet agenda. The 
middle column contains the decisions made, the reason for such decisions and also any 
alternatives options considered or rejected. The right hand column indicates the name of the 
officer(s) responsible for implementing/following up the decisions in each case.  
 

  
 

Officer 
contact 

 Cabinet Members Present – Councillors: 
 

• Councillor Ray Puddifoot (Leader of the Council and Chairman) 
• Jonathan Bianco (Cabinet Member for Finance and Business 

Services) 
• Keith Burrows (Cabinet Member for Planning and 

Transportation) 
• Sandra Jenkins (Cabinet Member for Environment) 
• Philip Corthorne (Cabinet Member for Social Services, Health 

and Housing) 
• Henry Higgins (Cabinet Member for Culture, Sport and Leisure) 
• Scott Seaman-Digby (Cabinet Member for Co-ordination and 

Central Services) 
 
Apologies: 
 

• Douglas Mills (Cabinet Member for Improvement, Partnerships 
and Community Safety) 

• David Simmonds (Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Education and Children’s Services) 

 
Other Councillors present:  
 
Anthony Way, Tony Eginton, George Cooper, Judith Cooper, David 
Yarrow, Andrew Retter, John Riley, Mary O’Connor, Edward Lavery 
and Kay Willmott-Denbeigh, Elizabeth Kemp and Peter Kemp. 
  

 

 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
No interests were declared. 
 

 

 DISTRIBUTION OF REPORTS IN PUBLIC AND PRIVATE 
 
The reports on items 1-9 were considered in public. 
  
 

 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



 
Cabinet Minutes – 16 April 2009 

 CABINET MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 19 March 2009 were 
agreed as a correct record. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

1 POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MAJOR REVIEW: 
DEVELOPING A SHORT BREAKS PROVISION 2008/09 
 
The Chairman of the Education and Children’s Services Policy 
Overview Committee presented the Committee’s report providing 
recommendations which seek to build upon the Borough’s approach 
and strategy to short breaks provision. Cabinet praised the report and 
the Committee for its work. It was noted that this report was developed 
in conjunction with Item 2 on the Cabinet agenda which aimed to 
deliver the Policy Overview Committee’s recommendations. 
 
DECISION 
 
That Cabinet:  
 

1. Welcome the report from the Education and Children’s 
Services Policy Overview Committee and note the general 
consensus it found in favour of improving the Short Breaks 
Provision; and 

 
2. Accepts the recommendations of the Policy Overview 

Committee report as reflected below: 
 

Policy Overview Recommendations accepted by Cabinet 
 
a. That the Cabinet consider the following ways to improve the 

Short Breaks Provision in the borough.    
b. Review signposting of services to ensure clear and 

consistent information is available via both our own 
information services including the contact centre, schools 
and via our partner agencies including the PCT. 

c. The demand of extra services within the Extended Schools 
programme to be assessed. Provision of inclusive services 
with mainstream setting to be reviewed together with the 
expansion of specialist provision via the special schools. 
This would build on the current excellent work undertaken 
by Moorcroft School. 

d. To expand the current flexible payment arrangements 
ensuring that parents / carers can access the types of 
provision that best suits their needs. 

e. Ensure that suitable transport is available to enable all 
children to access extended school services. 

f. Provide clear information to all users on appeal process. 
g. Review management of outreach service to ensure that 

cover is available when regular workers are absent. 
Methods of communication to parents to be reviewed. 

h. The Fiesta booking process to be reviewed to ensure ease 
of access for all users. 

Charles 
Francis, 

Deputy Chief 
Executive’s 

Office 

Page 2



 
Cabinet Minutes – 16 April 2009 

i. The current residential provision needs to be reviewed to 
see if it is practical and cost effective to replace the current 
inadequate Howletts Lane provision with an expanded and 
purpose built provision at the Merrifields site.  

j. Further work to be undertaken to ensure that there is a 
smooth transition between child and adult services in 
particular for the most needy users. 

k. To improve the range of services improve and develop links 
with the voluntary sector. Investment in services such as 
HomeStart appears to provide good services at a cost 
effective price. 

l. Use the existing expertise of voluntary sector providers to 
provide additional breaks for families. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
The recommendations are aimed at building upon Hillingdon’s 
approach to the delivery of a comprehensive Short Breaks Provision. 
Improved Short Breaks services will contribute to residents’ satisfaction 
and the aim of catering to the needs of families of children with 
disabilities.  
 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
 
The Cabinet could decide to reject or amend the Committee’s 
recommendations. 
 

2 DISABLED CHILDREN’S STRATEGY 2009-11 
 
DECISION 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

(a) Approve the Disabled Children’s Strategy; 
 
(b) Delegate authority to the Director of Education and 

Children’s Services, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Education and Children’s Services, to make 
decisions on how the ring-fenced Short Breaks 2009/10 
revenue grant funding from the Department for Children 
Schools and Families should be deployed; and 

 
(c) Approve a study to assess the costs and technical 

feasibility of converting the first floor of Merrifields 
Children’s Home for Disabled Children through the use of 
the Short Breaks Capital Grant. Cabinet approval for the 
capital project will be sought following completion of the 
study. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
The Disabled Children’s Strategy has been developed to respond to: 
 

Julian 
Wooster, 

Education and 
Children’s 
Services 

Page 3



 
Cabinet Minutes – 16 April 2009 

(a) a determination by local agencies in Hillingdon to respond 
positively and effectively to the recent feedback provided by 
parents/carers of disabled children highlighting the need for a 
step change improvement in the services and support provided 
to them and their children; and 

 
(b) national developments such as the publishing of Aiming High for 

Disabled Children and more specific developments such as the 
major step changes in funding available for Short Breaks and the 
rollout of the Early Support programme. 

 
The Strategy is recommended for Cabinet approval to enable the 
Council to respond effectively to these developments and deliver the 
many recommendations from the Education and Children’s Services 
Policy Overview Committee’s related review (item 1). 
 
The recommendation to delegate authority to the Director of Education 
and Children’s Services on the deployment of the Short Breaks 
revenue grant is being made on the assumption at this stage that no 
single revenue expenditure item will exceed the financial authority limits 
where Cabinet approval is required. Cabinet approval will be sought if 
this initial assumption changes. 
 
The recommendation to undertake a full feasibility study on the use of 
the short breaks capital grant to develop Merrifields, reflects 
consultation feedback from parents on short breaks provision which 
has positively endorsed this recommendation.  
 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
 
Officers considered developing the short breaks programme as a 
specific task outside of the development of a broader Disabled 
Children’s Strategy (an approach which some other boroughs have 
adopted). However, this approach generates risks that: 
 

(a) short breaks activity is not positioned effectively as part of a 
broader package of support to disabled children and their 
families; and 

 
(b) that short breaks activity is not co-ordinated with wider policy 

objectives, for example, an effective short breaks programme 
with targeted support and intervention can reduce the risk of 
family breakdown – and reduce the need for costly out of 
Borough residential provision. The need to tackle this latter area 
was identified as a priority for action in the Education and 
Children’s Services Service Review 

 
No viable or desired alternatives to the development of Merrifields have 
been put forward by officers or parents as a use of a significant 
proportion of the Short Breaks capital grant and which also meets the 
grant’s rules.  
 
 

Page 4



 
Cabinet Minutes – 16 April 2009 

3 HILLINGDON’S CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 2009 - 2012 
 
DECISION 
 
That Cabinet adopts the Council’s Climate Change Strategy 2009-
2012. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
As a signatory of the Nottingham Declaration, the Council is committed 
to addressing the issue of climate change at the local level.  Signatories 
of the Declaration commit themselves to producing a Strategy or Action 
Plan, which sets out how the issue will be tackled by the local authority.  
A commitment to produce a Climate Change Strategy was also 
contained within the Council’s Local Area Agreement (LAA) 2007-10. 
 
New national indicator 185 requires the Council to report on the carbon 
emissions arising from its own operations and to set a target in 2009 for 
emissions reductions.  Hillingdon has accepted the indicator as a 
“below the line” target in our LAA 2008-2011, that is one which we 
regard as important and will report on but which does not formally form 
part of the LAA.  
 
A draft strategy was developed during 2008 across all Council 
directorates.  Public and external stakeholder consultation was 
undertaken between 15 December 2008 and 20 February 2009.  
Incorporating the comments received where appropriate, officers have 
made minor amendments to the consultation draft and are now seeking 
Cabinet’s endorsement of the Strategy to enable adoption by the 
Council. 
 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
 
Not to endorse the Climate Change Strategy: this would not be in 
keeping with the Council’s commitment as a signatory to the 
Nottingham Declaration, nor would it acknowledge the extensive work 
being undertaken across Council services to deliver initiatives and 
projects which have contributed to the development of a Climate 
Change Strategy for the Borough, LAA targets and the enhancement of 
Hillingdon’s environment.   
 

Kristen 
Webster, 

Planning and 
Community 

Services, and, 
Kevin Byrne, 
Deputy Chief 
Executive’s 

Office 
 

4 HILLINGDON COUNCIL’S CARBON MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
DECISION 
 
That Cabinet agree: 
 

1. the outline Carbon Management Plan including the setting 
of a target of reducing the Council Carbon footprint for its 
Council operations by 40% by 2015.  

 
2. to further minor drafting or presentational changes as 

necessary to give effect to the plan, to be agreed by the 

Kristen 
Webster, 

Planning and 
Community 

Services, and 
Kevin Byrne, 
Deputy Chief 
Executive’s 

Page 5



 
Cabinet Minutes – 16 April 2009 

Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member for 
Environment. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
Agreeing the Carbon Management Plan (CMP) will enable officers to 
drive forward the detailed projects identified for fuller consideration and 
set a clear vision for reducing carbon and ensuring better use of 
resources.   It will deliver of priorities identified in the Sustainable 
Community Strategy and the Council plan and provide value for money. 
 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
 
i) A different target. The Council’s steering group on this 

recommends 40% to provide an ambitious yet achievable target 
by 2015.  The draft plan of indicative projects adds up to about 
25% reduction leave a further 15% to be identified in the latter 
years of the scheme. The option of an even more stretching 
target was rejected at this stage as it was not clear that 
investment to achieve, say 50% carbon reduction, would 
necessarily provide value for money in the 5 year payback 
period.     

 
ii) Not setting a target or rejecting the CMP would fail to meet the 

Council’s declared position on climate change and forgo the 
opportunity to achieve better value for money in use of 
resources.  

 
5 BUILDING SCHOOLS FOR THE 21st CENTURY PROGRAMME: 

APPROVAL OF STRATEGY FOR CHANGE PART 1 
 
DECISION 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1. Note that the Building Schools for the 21st Century 
Programme is a Hillingdon Improvement Programme (HIP) 
project directed by the HIP Steering Group and approved by 
the Cabinet; 

2. Approves the draft Strategy for Change (Part 1) and 
submission to Partnership for Schools; 

3. Approves the delegation of authority to the Director of 
Education and Children’s’ Services and the Leader of the 
Council, to approve amendments the draft Strategy for 
Change (Part 1) prior to submission to Partnership for 
Schools on the 23 April 2009; 

4. Notes that a further Strategy for Change (Part 2) will be 
presented to Cabinet in due course for approval; and 

5. Approves the delegation of authority to the Cabinet Member 
for Education and Children’s Services to publish statutory 
notices for all future school reorganisations under the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

 

Russell Eacott, 
Education and 

Children’s 
Services 

Page 6



 
Cabinet Minutes – 16 April 2009 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
The Strategy for Change (Part One) document is the first of three early 
documents that have to be approved by Cabinet.  SfC1 will be followed 
by Strategy for Change (Part 2) and finally, by the Outline Business 
Case. The formal procurement processes may only commence 
following approval by Partnerships for Schools Agency (PfS) of the 
Outline Business Case. Each phase and document is subject to 
rigorous consultation and time scales laid down by PfS.   
 
Any amendments to the draft document following consultation would 
need to be approved within time scales laid down by PfS. 
 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
 
The submission is a legal requirement.  No other options were  
considered. 
 

6 ALLOCATION OF 2009/2010 SAFER AND STRONGER 
COMMUNITIES FUND 
 
DECISION 
 
That Cabinet approve the allocation of the 2009/10 Safer and 
Stronger Communities Fund. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
The allocation includes grants of more than £10,000 to external 
organisations. 
 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
 
To not allocate funding to projects set out in the report. 
 

Teresa 
McKee, 

Planning and 
Community 

Services 

7 DISABLED PEOPLE’S PLAN – UPDATE ON PROGRESS 
 
DECISION 
 
That Cabinet:  
 

a) Notes the progress made so far in the development of 
the Disabled People’s Plan and the changes that 
disabled people consider would make living in Hillingdon 
better; and  

 
b) Instructs officers to complete the Plan as proposed in 

the report and bring to the July 2009 Cabinet meeting for 
approval. 

 
 

Gary Collier, 
Adult Social 
Care, Health 
and Housing 

Page 7



 
Cabinet Minutes – 16 April 2009 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
The Disabled People’s Plan will seek to address some of the 
challenges facing disabled people of all ages in Hillingdon by identifying 
what the Council can do directly, or through its influence with others, to 
improve the lives of disabled people and to maximise their health and 
wellbeing. It will cover the three year period 2009 – 2012 and is a 
reflection of the Council’s commitment set out in the Sustainable 
Community Strategy 2008 – 2018 to work with its partners and other 
stakeholders to ensure that all of the Borough’s residents, whatever 
their skills or abilities, have the opportunity to enjoy life in Hillingdon to 
the full.   
 
This report makes Cabinet aware of the development of the Plan, 
explains how it is being developed, advises what disabled people have 
identified as key issues and describe the next steps. 
 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
 
The alternative option considered was not to develop the Plan.  This 
would not assist in meeting the Council’s objectives as set out in the 
Single Equality Scheme and the Sustainable Community Strategy.  
 

8 LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT REFRESH 
 
DECISION 
 
That Cabinet approve the refreshed targets for each National 
Indicator which constitute Hillingdon’s Local Area Agreement. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
As part of the annual ‘refresh’ process, it is proposed to amend 14 
reward targets in the Local Agreement. Cabinet approval is required to 
amend the Local Area Agreement as set out in the in Hillingdon’s 
Constitution and Part V of the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007.  
 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
 
Cabinet Members could decide not to confirm any of the targets 
included within the Local Area Agreement (LAA). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ian Edwards, 
Deputy Chief 
Executive’s 

Office 

Page 8



 
Cabinet Minutes – 16 April 2009 

9 COUNCIL BUDGET – MONTH 11 2008/9 REVENUE AND CAPITAL 
MONITORING 
 
DECISION 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
1. Note the forecast budget position for revenue and capital as 

at Month 11. 
 
2. Agree to the purchase of the Northwood Boys Club site for 

£120k and for this cost to be funded from the Youth Centres 
capital budget for 2009/10. 

 
3. Agree to fund this cost from capital contingency if it cannot 

be contained within the current Youth Centres capital budget. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
The reason for the monitoring recommendation is to ensure the Council 
achieves its budgetary objectives. The report informs Cabinet of the 
latest forecast revenue and capital position for the current year 2008/9.  
 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
 
There are no other options proposed for consideration. 
 

Paul 
Whaymand, 
Finance and 
Resources 

  
The meeting closed at 7.25pm 
 

 

 
 
 DECISIONS ON ALL ITEMS CAME INTO EFFECT ON 5pm, 24

th APRIL 2009 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 
   

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

RESIDENTS’ AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES POLICY OVERVIEW 
COMMITTEE REVIEW OF CCTV STRATEGY 2008/9 
 
Cabinet Member  Councillor Douglas Mills and Councillor Sandra Jenkins 
   
Cabinet Portfolio  Improvement, Partnerships and Community Safety / Environment 
   
Officer Contact  Natasha Dogra, Deputy Chief Executive’s Office. 
   
Papers with report  Residents’ and Environmental Services Policy Overview 

Committee (RESPOC) review of CCTV Strategy 
 
HEADLINE INFORMATION 
 
Purpose of report 
 

 To receive the Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy 
Overview Committee’s report providing recommendations which 
seek to build upon the Borough’s approach and strategy to CCTV. 

   
Contribution to our 
plans and strategies 

 This report contributes to the Council’s priorities for a safe and 
secure Borough for all. 

   
Financial Cost  There are no direct financial implications associated with the 

majority of the recommendations.  
 
However, recommendation 2 (g & h) would have significant 
resource implications beyond that which be accommodated in the 
existing CCTV budget.  
 
However, it should be noted that additional funding requirements 
for expanding the existing CCTV control room has been included 
as part of the 2009/10 MTFF process. 
 

   
Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee 

 Residents’ and Environmental Services Policy Overview 
Committee 

   
Ward(s) affected 
 

 All. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Cabinet:  
 
1. Welcome the report from the Residents’ and Environmental Services Policy 
Overview Committee and note the general consensus it found in favour of using 
Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) to improve public safety; and 

 
2. Accepts the recommendations of the Policy Overview Committee report as 
reflected in a) to f) below: 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 11



 
   

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

a) To re-launch the CCTV Steering Group with a clear Member lead, with the 
aim of bringing the Council and local private and public sector agencies 
together, to renew its terms of reference and to set out the CCTV Strategy 
and policy for the borough as a whole.   

 
b) To endorse the work of the Joint Council / Police Prioritisation Panel, which 
decides the detailed location of new cameras with local agencies using 
demographic crime statistics; 

 
c) To improve communication and consultation between the partners to ensure 
the best use of the CCTV system;    

 
d) To develop a co-ordinated approach to ensure that all new installations of 
CCTV cameras around the borough are compatible with the council CCTV 
control room; 

 
e) To explore the extent to which the CCTV cameras could be used to detect 
‘enviro-crimes’ including parking offences, moving traffic contraventions, fly 
tipping, littering, and other environmental issues; 

 
f) To ask Officers to produce a CCTV Strategy for 2009/10 for consideration by 
the Executive, to be reviewed annually. 
 

3. Clarifies the recommendations of the Policy Overview Committee report by 
agreeing that: 

 
g) The Cabinet Member for Improvement, Partnerships and Community Safety 
will be responsible for the strategic development, the implementation of 
CCTV policy and the budget for development of CCTV in the borough.  The 
Cabinet Member for Environment should retain responsibility for the 
operation of the CCTV Service and for the use of CCTV for parking, traffic 
and environmental issues. 

 
h) With regard to recommendations to expand and modernise a multi-function 
CCTV control room in the Civic Centre to create additional capacity for 
adding more cameras; and to investigate and develop wireless technology 
in relation to CCTV; Cabinet should delegate Officers to investigate the 
feasibility of these proposals, report back to the Cabinet member(s) and 
prepare any further capital bids as may be required beyond what has already 
been included in the 2009/10 budget. 

 
i) With regard to introducing a Lay Panel in order to monitor compliance with 
the Council’s CCTV code of practice, Cabinet should defer a decision on this 
recommendation and Officers be delegated to investigate the practical 
applications of Lay Panels in other boroughs and report back to the Cabinet 
member(s) as to whether an existing consultative process can meet this 
objective. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 
   

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

INFORMATION 
 
Reasons for recommendation 
 
The recommendations are aimed at building upon Hillingdon’s approach to the delivery of a 
comprehensive CCTV strategy. Improved CCTV services will contribute to residents’ 
satisfaction and the aim of making Hillingdon a safer borough for all. These will also benefit from 
improved Control Room infrastructure and technology.  
 
Alternative options considered / risk management 
 
The Cabinet could decide to reject or amend the Committee’s recommendations. 
  
Supporting Information 
 
1. The Committee chose ‘CCTV strategy’ as a review topic in 2008/9 to enable the Council to 

build on its successes so far.  
 
2. The aim of this review was to look at ways to improve the Council’s CCTV strategy and the 

arrangements for implementing that strategy. The reasons behind why the Council uses 
CCTV were identified, including the potential benefits and drawbacks. Opportunities to 
improve the Council’s CCTV services were investigated and were considered when 
producing the recommendations. 

 
3. The review took place between July 2008 and January 2009. The Committee took evidence 

from the Crown Prosecution Service, Uxbridge Town Centre managers, Age Concern, Street 
Champions, Youth Council, and officers from Westminster & Hillingdon Councils. The 
Committee also visited Westminster City Council’s CCTV control centre in the Trocadero 
Centre, London, and Hillingdon’s CCTV control room in the Civic Centre to see the work 
done by CCTV operators first hand. 

 
4. In determining whether or not to accept RESPOC’s recommendations, Cabinet should note 

the following: 
 

• With regard to Recommendation a), Cabinet Member lead for the CCTV Steering Group, 
the current portfolio responsibilities in relation to CCTV are split between Cllr Jenkins 
(operational) and Cllr Mills (strategy and community safety). A change to the Cabinet 
Scheme of Delegations and approval from the Leader of the Council would be required if 
there were to be any amendment to Cabinet Member portfolios.  It is proposed that the 
Cabinet Member for Improvement, Partnerships and Community Safety should be 
responsible for the strategic development, the implementation of CCTV policy and the 
budget for development of CCTV in the borough.  The Cabinet Member for Environment 
should retain responsibility for the operation of the CCTV Service and for the use of 
CCTV for parking, traffic and environmental issues. This proposal would not require any 
changes to Cabinet Member portfolios.  

 
• Recommendation d), about ensuring cameras around the borough are compatible with 

the Council’s CCTV control room, relates to new cameras that may be placed by external 
organisations or other bodies and not those procured by the Council. 

 
 
 

Page 13



 
   

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

• Recommendation h) relates to both the expansion and modernisation of the CCTV 
control room. Cabinet is already proposing to expand and invest in the control room. 
However, any further modernisation into a ‘multifunctional room’ and the implementation 
of wireless technology as also recommended by RESPOC would require an additional 
capital bid(s), subject to further Member approval. 

 
• With regard to recommendations i), Cabinet should note that the purpose of a Lay Panel 

(or similar consultative process) would be to promote public confidence in the use of 
CCTV and make it more accountable to the people it aims to protect. The Lay Panel 
would not be involved in prioritising the use or location of cameras, as that would be the 
role of the Joint Police / Council Prioritisation Panel.  

 
5. The Committee’s report (attached) gives full details of the review. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
There are no direct financial implications associated with recommendations other than 
recommendation h). This recommendation, to modernise the CCTV control room into a ‘multi-
functional’ facility and to develop wireless CCTV technology, would have significant resource 
implications beyond what can be accommodated in the existing service budget for CCTV and 
would require further capital bid(s). 
 
However, Cabinet should note that additional £250k funding for the development and expansion 
of the CCTV service has been included in the 2009/10 budget.  This will provide for 
modernisation of the service over a four-year period, enable additional cameras and monitors to 
be added and the investigation of the potential for wireless CCTV functionality.  
 
EFFECT ON RESIDENTS, SERVICE USERS & COMMUNITIES 
 
What will be the effect of the recommendation? 
 
The Committee’s recommendations will provide a springboard for the Council to take those 
steps necessary to improve community safety further. 
 
Residents will benefit from reduced levels of crime and disorder stemming from anti-social 
behaviour, as a result of better deployment of CCTV cameras. 
 
Consultation Carried Out or Required 
 
The Committee took evidence from residents, officers and experts as described in the attached 
report (see page 17). 
 
CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Corporate Finance 
 
The recommendation to create a ‘multi-functional’ CCTV control room and use wireless 
technology is dependant on the approval of additional funding.  However, £250k has been 
included within the 2009/10 budget to expand the current CCTV control room and provide for 
more cameras. 
 
 

Page 14



 
   

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Legal  
 
CCTV recordings have been used to great effect in combating crime and disorder within the 
London Borough of Hillingdon.  Footage generated is used as evidence in the prosecution of 
many offences. Whilst the use of CCTV images in enforcement work is lawful, it is also subject 
to many stringent control and monitoring measures designed to provide procedural safeguards 
to help protect the rights of the individual. 
 
In order to ensure that the use of CCTV by the Council remains lawful, the service will have to 
comply with the Criminal Procedures and Investigations Act 1996, the Data Protection Act 1998, 
the Human Rights Act 1998, The Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Public Order Act 1986, the 
Police and Criminal Evidence Act Codes of Practice, the Freedom of Information Act 2000, The 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, the Information Commission Codes of Practice for 
CCTV and the National CCTV Strategy (issued by the Home Office in 2007).   
 
In view of the vast body of legislation to be considered, consultation with legal services, 
Metropolitan Police and other stakeholders with regard to the lawful use, strategy and Code of 
Practice for CCTV is necessary. 
 
The benefits of accepting these recommendations are that they create internal monitoring and 
control mechanisms that will ensure compliance with the legislation listed above. 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
NIL 

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

RESIDENTS’ AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

 
 

2008/2009 
 

 
REVIEW OF CCTV STRATEGY   

 
 
 
 

Members of the Committee 
 

 
Cllr Kay Willmott-Denbeigh (Chairman) 
Cllr Janet Duncan 

   Cllr John Hensley 
   Cllr Graham Horn 
   Cllr Michael Markham 

Cllr Avtar Sandhu 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 17



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 2 

CONTENTS 
 
 
Chairman’s Foreword ..................................................................... ..Page 3 
 
1. Conclusions and Recommendations ........................................ ..Page 5 
 
2. Background, Terms of Reference and Methodology ............... ..Page 9 
 
3. Summary of Findings………………………………………………….Page 17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 3 

Chairman’s Foreword 

 

Close Circuit Television is an emotive subject that has 

become a necessity in this day and age. As various 

levels of crime continue to increase, the need for 

public surveillance has become an essential tool for 

public safety. This requirement is already undertaken 

by the Council, with over 90 CCTV cameras and 11 

covert CCTV cameras deployed in various areas of 

the borough. These CCTV cameras are a fundamental instrument used to 

combat an assortment of crimes in the borough, ranging from community 

safety to fly tipping. 

 

This report combines not only the public’s perception of CCTV but also the 

views of different users throughout the Borough.  During our witness sessions 

we took evidence from a cross section of the public and were pleased that the 

general consensus of opinion was in favour of CCTV. A number of Council 

officers and other interested parties also contributed towards our report and 

behalf of the review group I would like to thank all witnesses who gave up 

their time to this review. Their contribution was of great value to the 

Committee and we are indebted to those who took part in the review.   

 

During our review we also sought advice from Westminster City Council, an 

exemplar Borough, and investigated how they operate their CCTV strategy. 

The information learned has given us an insight into improving and 

modernising our current practise. I would like to thank those at Westminster 

City Council who accommodated our request. 

  

From these contributions and our own investigations, we have identified a 

significant number of changes and potential improvements that we 

recommend to Cabinet for consideration. We believe that our work and the 

recommendations that flow from it will help to improve service provision in the 

Page 19



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 4 

borough. We also hope that this report will help to raise public awareness 

more broadly about the need for CCTV in the borough. 

 

                         

 

Cllr Kay Willmott-Denbeigh 

Page 20



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 5 

Close Circuit Television (CCTV): Conclusions and Recommendations 

 

The following are proposed as conclusions and recommendations to go 

into the Committee’s final report. 

 

The Committee reviewed the duties, functions, performance of and potential 

for improvements in the strategy for CCTV services in Hillingdon. A summary 

of the Committee’s conclusions and recommendations are below.  

 

The Committee concludes: 

 

1. Safety should remain the paramount aim for the CCTV Strategy. 

The Committee endorses the Council’s current priorities of CCTV:  

• To reduce anti-social behaviour 

• To create a safe environment 

• To reduce burglary and vehicle crime 

• To reduce assaults and hate crime. 

 

2. Good public perception of CCTV use should continue to be 

encouraged to maximize the potential of the system. 

Residents’ reactions and feedback to ward Councillors and officers indicates 

that an increase in the number of CCTV cameras would heighten residents’ 

sense of security.   It would also make the area seem a more pleasant and 

attractive place to visit and live in. 

 

3. CCTV cameras in Hillingdon should also be proactively used in 

dealing with parking offences and environmental crimes. 

Cameras used to combat crime and disorder should also be used to identify 

vehicle offences and environmental crime in the borough, where this is 

appropriate. 

 

4. Need to clarify roles and responsibilities in relation to the CCTV 

Strategy. 

Page 21



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 6 

Whilst Members set priorities, the management arrangements are not as 

robust as they should be.   There needs to be clear accountability for several 

bodies, such as the CCTV Steering Group. 

 

The Committee therefore recommends: 

 

Recommendation 1: That the Cabinet consider the following ways to 

improve the operation of CCTV in the borough.   The Committee 

suggests ways this might be achieved below and recommend that the 

Cabinet ask officers to progress those they support. 

 

These are the Committee’s proposals to improve the operation of CCTV in 

Hillingdon: 

 

1.1   Re-launch CCTV Steering Group with a clear Member lead, with the 

aim of bringing the Council and local private and public sector agencies 

together, to renew its terms of reference and to set out the CCTV Strategy 

and policy for the borough as a whole.    The Steering Group needs to build 

on existing partnerships with agencies in the borough such as the Police.   Its 

role will be to advise on good practice and strategy and to maintain 

performance information on the effectiveness of CCTV in the borough.  

 

1.2   Introduce a Lay Panel to monitor the Council’s CCTV code of practice 

and ensure it is complied with. This panel would help tackle the image of ‘Big 

Brother’ style monitoring by encouraging a good public perception. Members 

of this Lay Panel will be volunteers and would report to the CCTV Manager. 

 

1.3   Endorse the work of the Prioritisation Panel.   This panel decides the 

detailed location of new cameras with local agencies using demographic 

crime statistics.   The panel comprises of officers from the council and the 

police. Members of this panel would be the CCTV Manager, the Community 

Safety Manager (Tasking) and Metropolitan Police representatives.  

 

Page 22



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 7 

1.4   Improve communication and consultation between the partners to 

ensure the best use of the CCTV system.   In order to achieve this, partners 

must be able to share cameras and images.  Regular meetings with partners 

would initiate better communication.   Communication links should be 

strengthened with local transport and the parking enforcement service. 

 

1.5 Develop a co-ordinated approach to ensure that all new installations 

of CCTV cameras in the borough are compatible with the council CCTV 

control room equipment to have the option of / enable central 

monitoring.   When developing the CCTV Strategy, the planning informative 

on CCTV should be included to support this co-ordinated approach.  

 

1.6 Explore the extent to which the CCTV cameras could be used to 

detect ‘enviro-crimes’ including parking offences, moving traffic 

contraventions, fly tipping, littering, and other environmental issues. 

 

1.7 Expand and modernise a multifunctional CCTV control room, in the 

Civic Centre to create additional capacity for adding more cameras.   

Expansion and modernisation will also extend to the further development of 

wireless technology, where appropriate.    A multifunctional room has the 

potential to eventually become self-funded.   For example, additional income 

from parking contraventions could be used to fund the expansion of the CCTV 

service.   The room is already linked with the police and Uxbridge shopping 

centres.   The potential to link up with public transport, local schools, Brunel 

University and other local businesses, to enable partners to share information, 

should be explored further. 

 

The modernisation of the control room should lead the CCTV service to keep 

abreast of technological advancements and any possible convergences of 

technology within the CCTV market place. Opportunities for integrating 

existing and new systems should be encouraged with partner organisations, 

including other external agencies. All technological developments should be 

reported to the CCTV steering group. 

 

Page 23



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 8 

1.8 Investigate and develop wireless technology, where such an 

installation would be appropriate to the location being considered and a 

satisfactory business case is put forward.  

 

Recommendation 2: That the Cabinet ask officers to produce a draft 

CCTV Strategy for 2009/10, which is annually reviewed commencing one 

year after it has been published.  

 

The Committee recommend the Strategy is published early in the council year  

2009/10 to give residents, partners and Councillors a better understanding of 

priorities and future plans for CCTV.   The Committee recommends that the 

Strategy contain details of spending for the past year, as well as plans for the 

future, so that achievements can also be seen. 

 

The Committee recommend that the Residents’ and Environmental Services 

Policy Overview Committee revisit this report one year after the review is 

completed. 

 

The Committee suggests ways this might be achieved and recommend 

that the Cabinet ask officers to progress the recommendations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 9 

2. Background, Importance and Methodology 

 

Background to the review 

 

This review is one of two chosen in June 2008/9 by the Residents’ and 

Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee for 2008/9. The choice 

was made according to set criteria aimed at ensuring Policy Overview reviews 

focus on matters that are important locally and cover topics that the 

Committee can add value to and make an impact.  

 

Aim of the review  

To review and improve the Council’s CCTV strategy and the arrangements for 

implementing that strategy. To make recommendations to Cabinet which will 

improve the service and improve residents’ satisfaction. 

 

Terms of Reference (as agreed July 2008) 

1. To identify the reasons why the Council uses CCTV, the potential benefits 

and drawbacks. 

2. To examine the effectiveness of the Council’s current CCTV strategy and 

policy. 

3. To investigate opportunities to improve the Council’s CCTV services, 

including any safeguards. 

4. To examine best practice elsewhere. 

 

Importance 

 

The Council’s duty as a Local Authority under the Human Rights Act 2000 is 

to maintain a high level of public safety and security. Under the Data 

Protection Act 1997 the Council has a duty to deal with public surveillance in 

an efficient and attentive manner.  

 

Ensuring residents are both actually safe and feel safe is a Council priority.  

This involves working closely with our partners, particularly with the police and  

with local people in their own neighbourhoods, and investing in things that  

Page 25



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 10 

help keep our residents safe. 

 

Reasons for the review  

“CCTV requires human intervention to work to maximum efficiency and the 

problems it helps deal with are complex. It has potential, if properly managed, 

often alongside other measures, and in response to specific problems, to help 

reduce crime and to boost the public’s feeling of safety; and it can generate 

other benefits. What is clear is that all areas need to develop a strategy for 

using CCTV. Technology is still moving fast, there is likely to be more 

emphasis on the use of biometrics, on ‘event-led’ CCTV systems rendering 

them more ‘intelligent’, but these changes need to be matched by appropriate 

changes in policy”.  Home Office Research Study 292 ‘Assessing the Impact 

of CCTV’, (Gill & Spriggs 2005).  

 

The following are all reasons for this review into CCTV strategy in Hillingdon. 

 

1. The impact of legislation and national guidance. 

In terms of the Freedom of Information, Regulation of Investigating Powers 

and the Police and Justice Acts and, also, the National CCTV strategy 

recently issued by the Home Office. 

 

2. A continuing need to ensure value for money. 

CCTV combined with other interventions or security measures can be a 

formidable tool in the fight against crime, disorder anti-social behaviour and 

general community management.   

 

CCTV is believed to be a key contributor to the exercise of Council’s 

responsibilities under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. We need to ensure 

there is clear correlation between the Council’s CCTV activities and changes 

in the crime detection, reduction and prevention statistics relating to the 

borough. 

  

Page 26



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 11 

3. Technological advances  

The increased use of mobile, wireless and ‘Internet Protocol’ digital CCTV, 

permitting rapid deployment, requires the Council to reassess the specific 

value for money of the current hard-wired systems.  

 

4. A review of current arrangements for policy development and overall  

direction for the service area.  

The recent Review of Community Safety in the Borough and development of 

the Council’s Community Safety function has revealed the need to review the 

current organisational arrangements for both implementing CCTV strategy 

and developing CCTV policy to ensure they are appropriate and effective. 

 

5. Funding 

It is timely to review the most appropriate sources of funding for the CCTV 

service and the best way to fund future development opportunities.  

 

Key issues for the review 

 

The following issues were taken up in the Committee’s enquiries: 

1. Are residents’ expectations and concerns about CCTV reflected in the 

Council’s service standards? 

2. What is the total extent of existing CCTV provision across the Council, 

including schools – the number, location and ownership of CCTV cameras the 

Council uses in the borough? 

3. Effectiveness of CCTV: 

a. What is the evidence on the pattern of crimes and incidents in the 

vicinity of cameras before and after their installation? Has there been 

displacement to areas outside the cameras’ field? 

b. How many convictions or detections result from CCTV images? 

4. Are there greater possibilities for shared use/synergy with the Council’s 

partners in public and private sectors? 

5. How have other Councils utilised CCTV successfully?  

Page 27



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 12 

6. To what extent have the recommendations from the external review carried 

out in July 2006 (by Perpetuity Consultants) been implemented? Are they still 

relevant? 

7. As revenue and capital funding for CCTV is split across several service 

areas, are the methods used to assess value for money consistent? 

 

Methodology (documents, witnesses, consultation, visits) 

 

1. Witnesses 

The following people attended the Residents’ and Environmental Services 

Policy Overview Committee meetings when CCTV strategy was being 

discussed: 

• Chief Inspector Maurice Hartnett, Metropolitan Police Service 

• Melanie Parrish, Harrow District Crown Prosecutor, Crown Prosecution 

Service 

• David Frost, Street Scene Locality Manager 

• Rob McAlister, Westminster City Council CCTV operations manager 

• Andy Stubbs, Uxbridge town centre manager 

• Steve Beynon, The Pavilions Mall Security manager 

• Chris Commerford, Age Concern Chief Officer 

• John Thirkettle, Street Champion 

• Sue Turner, Street Champion 

• Linda McCutcheon, Street Champion 

• Akshay Pal, Youth Forum member 

• Sheyi Enyosi, Youth Forum member 

 

2. Visit: 

On 13th November 2008, the Committee visited Westminster City Council’s 

CCTV control room in the Trocadero Centre, Piccadilly Circus, London, to see 

London’s largest CCTV control centre live. CCTV operations manager Rob 

McAlister answered questions regarding wireless technology and the use of 

cameras in the capital city. 

 

Page 28



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 13 

Background to CCTV 

 

Investment in CCTV cameras began in Hillingdon in 1998 when the Home 

Office made available significant capital funds to local authorities around the 

country, believing CCTV cameras to be a useful tool for preventing and 

detecting crime.  

 

1. CCTV camera uses 

CCTV cameras have many uses.  The Council has registered its cameras with 

the Information Commissioner, in accordance with the Data Protection Act 

1998, for the following uses: to 

 

1. reduce the fear of crime 

2. deter crime 

3. detect crime and provide evidential material for court proceedings 

4. assist in the overall management of the Borough of Hillingdon 

5. enhance community safety, assisting in developing the economic well 

being of the Hillingdon area and encourage greater use of the town 

centre, university, shopping mall car parks etc 

6. assist the Local Authority in its enforcement and regulatory functions 

within the Borough of Hillingdon area  

7. assist in Traffic Management 

8. assist in supporting civil proceedings which will help detect crime, and  

9. assist in civil emergencies. 

 

2. Arrangements and types of CCTV camera  

CCTV cameras are arranged either as a ‘network’, ‘stand-alone’ or 

portable/rapid deployment system. 

 

• Those that are ‘networked’ are hard-wire linked to the Civic Centre 

CCTV Camera Control Room, have their images monitored ‘24/7’ by 

CCTV operators and have their images recorded.  

 

Page 29



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 14 

• Those cameras that are ‘stand-alone’ have their images recorded 

locally and may or may not have those images on real time display, 

also locally e.g. in a leisure centre. 

 

• Portable, rapid deployment cameras are relatively lightweight and quick 

to set up. Their images are recorded locally and usually do not have 

real time display of the imaged. They may be used for purposes such 

as investigating race hate incidents.  

 

Typical CCTV cameras that are used to monitor public spaces are shown 

below 

 

 

 

 

 

PAN, TILT, ZOOM CAMERA 

 

 

DOME 360 DEGREE CAMERA 

  

  

 

 

 

STATIC (FIXED) CAMERA 

 

 

 

MICI DOME CAMERA 

Page 30



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 15 

3. Numbers of CCTV cameras 

Over 90 cameras monitor the public space around the borough, providing real 

time images to the CCTV operators in the Civic Centre Control Room; their 

locations are shown in the table below. Some of these cameras are used for 

parking enforcement purposes, assisting in keeping traffic flowing smoothly 

around the borough.  

 

Location No of cameras Date installed 

Ruislip 4 July 2001 

Cedars & Grainges Car Parks 18 February 2002 

West Drayton & Yiewsley 14 May 2002 

Manor Farm, Ruislip 7 September 2002 

Northwood town centre 4 between 2004 and 

2007 

Northwood Hills 1 October 2007 

Cowley 1 December 2007 

Harefield 3 March 2006 

Hayes 20 between 2001 and 

2006 

Uxbridge 20 between 1997 and 

2008 

Longford Roundabout 1 March 2008 

 

In addition, there are over 11 covert cameras used to gather evidence to 

prosecute fly-tippers and others who illegally dump waste.  Any cameras that 

are used covertly are used in accordance with the Regulation of Investigatory 

Powers Act 2000. 

 

The CCTV Camera Prioritisation Panel is responsible for assessing member 

of the public requests made to the Council for the provision of CCTV cameras. 

The Panel membership comprises the CCTV Manager, the Community Safety 

Manager (Tasking) and Metropolitan Police representatives. 

 

Page 31



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 16 

4. How is CCTV funded currently? 

New CCTV installations are (capital) funded from a number of sources, 

including 

 

• Home Office (community safety) grants 

• Council Section 106 funds 

• Council capital funds 

• Parking Revenue Account 

• Transport for London 

• Grants from other Government Departments 

 

In 2008/9 the Council will spend £180,000 on the provision of new CCTV 

cameras 

 

CCTV camera technology is changing rapidly; for example, the development 

of Automatic Face Recognition (AFR) technology, ‘wireless’ cameras and 

more efficient CCTV cameras offering higher quality images. An unfortunate 

consequence of this is the speed at which CCTV technology becomes out of 

date and redundant. 

 

Therefore, money needs to be invested continually in CCTV cameras to keep 

those operations up to date and effective. 

Page 32



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 17 

3. Summary of findings 

 

This chapter explains the rationale behind the Committee’s recommendations. 

It draws on the evidence presented to the review, which can be found in 

appendices: 

 

Close Circuit Television in Hillingdon 

In recent surveys, the percentage of residents who expressed concern about  

crime’ fell from 90% in 2005 to 69% in 2007. Similarly, the percentage of  

residents who experienced anti-social behaviour (ASB) reduced from 55% in  

2005 to 33% in 2007. Studies have shown that CCTV, used in conjunction  

with other crime interventions and security measures, can be a redoubtable  

tool in the fight against crime, disorder and ASB. 

 

1. Aims and functions of the service 

Currently, the Council uses CCTV for the following purposes: 

• to reduce the fear of crime; 

• prevent, deter and detect crime, criminal damage and public disorder, 

including vandalism and incidents of public nuisance; 

• identify, apprehend and prosecute offenders in relation to crime, 

criminal damage, public order, road traffic accidents involving serious 

injury and all forms of harassment cases; 

• assist the emergency services in all aspects as appropriate, including 

major exercises relating to criminal activities and public safety; 

• provide the Police, Council and other organisations, as authorised, with 

evidence upon which to take criminal and civil actions in the Courts; 

• undertake environmental enforcement activities; 

• assist with traffic management; and 

• assist, where appropriate, in the general management of the area by 

identifying issues, such as fly-tipping, graffiti, damaged street signs, 

litter, etc. 

 

This is delivered using equipment including: 

Page 33



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 18 

• centrally monitored, ‘pan, tilt and zoom’ CCTV; 

• stand-alone, fixed view CCTV; 

• mobile, car-mounted, CCTV; and 

• automatic number plate recognition technology. 

 

Looking ahead, the popular demand for CCTV in the Community remains 

high. To meet this demand, the Council’s CCTV activities would need to  

develop and use opportunities to:- 

• increase the numbers of local residents who feel secure – especially 

improving safety and well-being of older people and vulnerable people 

and their feeling of security 

• support environmental enforcement activities and traffic management; 

contribute to improving local safety around alleyways, public open 

spaces and shopping areas. 

 

2. Performance 

In 2008, LB Hillingdon’s Community Safety department created a report using 

OmniData software to provide basic statistics of crime in Hayes town centre 

and Uxbridge town centre. The report highlights the ‘before and after’ analysis 

of a sample of cameras, with a view to assess whether there is evidence of 

effectiveness and crime displacement.  

 

The table below shows the number of crimes in the London Borough Of 

Hillingdon pre CCTV installation and post CCTV installation.  

 

Locations 6months pre No. of 

crimes 

6 months 

post 

No. of 

crimes 

% + or - 

Hayes Town 

Centre 

Jan 2001 to 

June 2001 

7986 Aug 2001 to 

Jan 2001 

8348 5% increase 

Uxbridge 

Town Centre 

Jan 1997 to 

Nov 1997 

7408 Jan 1998 to 

June 1998 

7267 2% decrease 

 

Based upon the findings of the report, Uxbridge town centre witnessed a 2% 

reduction in crime over a six month period following the installation of CCTV, 

Page 34



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 19 

compared to a 5% increase in Hayes town centre it could be concluded that 

the CCTV scheme in Uxbridge town centre has successfully reduced crime, 

based on the crime categories used for this report. There is evidence that 

CCTV is more effective in some contexts than others, and certainly more 

effective against some types of crime than others. The report generally 

suggests that property crime seems more susceptible to the impact of CCTV 

especially thefts from and of vehicles, while personal crimes such as assaults 

are less likely to be influenced, some research found that CCTV had no effect 

on crimes of violence, but a significant impact on vehicle crime.  

 

In a 2008 Home Office study, a total of thirteen evaluations were made of 

CCTV installations in city centres and public housing. Seven were in England, 

five were in the United States, and one was in Scotland. Five of the thirteen 

were found to have a desirable effect (i.e. a reduction in crime); three were 

considered to have an undesirable effect; five were considered to have had a 

nil effect. In car parks, CCTV led to a statistically significant reduction when 

compared to control areas. Conversely, CCTV was found to have no effect on 

violent crime (Home Office Research Study 252, Home Office Research, 

Development and Statistics Directorate).  

 

In September 2008, LB Hillingdon’s Community Safety department consulted 

Members of the Community and Police Consultative Group on their views 

about CCTV via a questionnaire. The results showed that most people wanted 

more and better CCTV, rather than an alternative to the technology. Overall, 

the group believed that CCTV cameras are effective in deterring people from 

anti-social behaviour and committing crimes, but that there are not enough 

cameras in the borough. 

 

3. Comparisons with another Local Authority 

The Committee visited Westminster City Council’s CCTV control centre on 

13th November 2008. This gave the Committee the opportunity to make useful 

comparisons. 

 

Points of interest and comparison that the Committee particularly noted are: 

Page 35



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 20 

 

• 4 operators monitor the Westminster City Council CCTV control room 

24 hours a day, every single day. A team of operators were contracted 

through a security contract company and the same staff work all the 

time. 12 hours shifts are worked, with a 15-minute break every hour, 

and one hour for lunch.  3 operators monitor the Uxbridge Civic Centre 

CCTV control room 24 hours a day, every single day.  

 

• The Westminster CCTV system will soon be fully digitalized. All images 

are recorded and kept for a maximum of 31 days after which they are 

either burnt onto disk if requested for evidence or recorded over. (This 

is a home office best practice requirement and is the same in LB 

Hillingdon). 

 

• There is a blend of wireless and non-wireless technology in 

Westminster. Wireless cameras are predominately used for parking. 

The Committee was given the example of the Haymarket bombing in 

2007, which was picked up on parking cameras. Officers told the 

Committee it would take a long time and huge amount of funding to 

make the entire system wireless, and wireless technology is only 

successful is certain areas though – this is because the signal can drop 

significantly is the signal is blocked. 

 

4. Residents’ views 

The Committee consulted residents’ by inviting three Street Champions, two 

members of the Youth Council and Age Concern Hillingdon Chief Officer to 

attend the Committee Meeting on 9th October 2008 to hear and comment on 

evidence to the Committee. The Committee noted the following themes from 

the evidence given: 

 

• Many mentioned the need for better public consultation regarding 

CCTV use in the borough. They said the public know where the 

Page 36



 
Policy Overview Committee Report  POC report page 21 

trouble hot spots are and therefore should be consulted when new 

cameras are erected. The Committee supports this approach. 

 

• Many mentioned the need to inform the public of CCTV use in areas 

where cameras are deployed and to encourage a good public 

perception of CCTV use in the borough. Residents believed that 

CCTV increases their sense of security and if they were more aware 

of cameras, they would feel safer. The Committee supports this 

approach. 

 

• Residents also suggested the need for a better consultation process 

between the various groups using CCTV in the borough. They 

believed that better communications between, for example, the police 

and Council would lead shared resources and a wider area under 

surveillance. The Committee’s recommendation about a better 

consultation process would help towards improved communication 

links.  

 

 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



 
  

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

OLDER PEOPLE’S PLAN - UPDATE 2008/09 
 
Cabinet Member  Cllr Ray Puddifoot / Cllr Philip Corthorne 
   
Cabinet Portfolio  Leader of the Council / Social Services, Health and Housing 
   
Officer Contact  Kevin Byrne and Dan Kennedy 
   
Papers with report  Appendix 1 - Older People’s Action Plan 2008-2009 

 
HEADLINE INFORMATION 
 
Purpose of report 
 

 To provide a progress report on the implementation of the Action 
Plan from the Older People’s Plan 2008-2011. 
 

   
Contribution to our 
plans and strategies 

 The older people’s plan assists the Council to deliver its plan ‘Fast 
Forward to 2010’ and with partners assists in delivering the 
Sustainable Community Strategy for Hillingdon.  These in turn 
contribute to the Comprehensive Area Assessment for Hillingdon. 

   
Financial Cost  The majority of proposals will be financed from within existing 

resources.   However, some proposals may be financed via 
funding set aside under the “Leader’s Initiative”. 

   
Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee 

 Social Services, Health and Housing 

   
Ward(s) affected 
 

 All 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Cabinet notes the significant achievements of the Older People’s Action Plan for 
2008/09 as set out in Appendix 1. 
 
INFORMATION 
 
Reasons for recommendation 
 

1. The development of the three-year older people’s plan 2008-2011 endorses the 
commitment from the Council and its partners to the continued development and 
improvement of services designed to create a better quality of life for older people in 
Hillingdon. The plan supports the council in delivering it’s plan ‘Fast Forward to 2010’ and 
supports Hillingdon in delivering the Sustainable Community Strategy. 

 
Alternative options considered 
 

2. None considered 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 39



 
  

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Comments of Policy Overview Committee(s) 
 

3. None at this stage                           
 
Supporting Information 
 

4. The Older People’s Plan from 2008-2011 is the second three-year plan for older people 
in Hillingdon, and continues the work of the 2005-2008 plan.  On 15 July 2008 Cabinet 
approved the three-year plan for older people 2008-2011 and agreed the action plan for 
2008/09.  The three year plan was developed in consultation with older people and a 
wide range of partners including the Hillingdon Primary Care Trust, Hillingdon Hospital, 
the voluntary sector, Police, Ambulance Service and Fire Brigade.   This collaborative 
approach has proved successful and will continue to further improve services for older 
people in the borough and promote active ageing in Hillingdon. 

              
5. The Older Peoples Plan 2008-2011 is made up of eight themes which older people have 

said are important to them.  The eight themes are: 
• Safety and security 
• Preventative care 
• Keeping independent and healthy 
• Tackling age discrimination 
• Planning for retirement 
• Housing 
• Learning and sharing skills 
• Consulting and informing 
 

6. The action plan is regularly monitored and updated and further work is underway to 
develop the involvement of the Older Peoples Assembly and the FORCE Group (the 
Older Peoples Assembly Steering Group) in monitoring the plan and developing actions 
for future years. 

 
7. There have been a number of achievements to date.  Some of the most notable 

achievements have included: 
• the provision of free burglar alarms to older people who are victims of crime – 171 

alarms installed in 2008/09.  82% feel safer in their own homes after the alarm was 
installed. 

• strengthening the links between older people and the Safer Neighbourhood Teams.   
• the ‘darker nights’ campaign designed to help older people feel safer 
• improved partnership arrangements to safeguard adults from harm 
• improving take-up of allotments to encourage social inclusion, physical fitness and 

healthy eating 
• the development and improvement of information for older people, with a dedicated 

page for older people in every edition of the Council’s publication for local residents 
(called ‘Hillingdon People’) 

• support for dining clubs to invest in new equipment and maintain delivery of vital 
community services 

• expanding the take up of the brown badge parking scheme for older people 
• progressing developments to increase the availability of sheltered housing for older 

people 
• achieving the target for 251 people to benefit from technology to assist them to live 

independently in their own homes 

Page 40



 
  

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

• During 2008/09, 1,586 Brown Badges for parking spaces for older people were issued 
giving a total of 3,391 Brown Badges since the scheme was introduced.  On average 
5 Brown Badge applications are received per working day. 

 
8. A full progress update of the action plan is attached under appendix one.  Work is 

currently underway with representatives of the Older Peoples Assembly in Hillingdon to 
finalise the Older Peoples Action Plan for 2009/10. 

 
Financial Implications 
 

9. The majority of proposals will be financed from within existing resources.  However, 
some proposals may be financed via funding set aside under the “Leader’s Initiative”.             

 
EFFECT ON RESIDENTS, SERVICE USERS & COMMUNITIES 
 
What will be the effect of the recommendation? 
 

10. The 2008-2011 Older Peoples Plan was welcomed by older people as positively 
continuing to raise their value and profile and as an opportunity to improve the lives of 
older people in the community. 

 
Consultation Carried Out or Required 
              

11. Engagement with older people in 2009 to review the 2008-2011 plan will help to identify 
future priorities for development. 

 
CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Corporate Finance 
 

12.  A corporate finance officer has reviewed the report and its financial implications, and is 
satisfied that these reflect the resource implications for the Council of the implementation 
of the Older People’s Plan.  There are no additional financial implications arising from the 
recommendations of the report.          

 
Legal 
 

13. There are no specific legal implications arising from this report.         
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
NIL 
 
 
 

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Appendix One 
 

HILLINGDON COUNCIL’S ACTION PLAN FOR OLDER PEOPLE 2008-2011 (QUARTER 4 2008/09 UPDATE) 
This action plan represents a working tool for the implementation of Hillingdon Council’s Plan for Older People 2008-2011 and 
will be implemented by the Champion for Older People, Partners and Older People themselves. 

 
Outcome Lead Officer Objective 

taken from the 
Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
1 Safety and   
   Security 

1a Emma 
Marsh 
 

We will 
continue to 
increase the 
confidence of 
older people 
by reducing 
both the fear of 
crime and the 
chances of 
them 
becoming 
victims. 

1 Encourage older 
people to talk to their 
safer neighbourhood 
teams.  Encourage 
older people to join 
Ward Panels. This 
would help raise the 
profile of older 
people and their 
particular needs. 

1a Raise awareness of safety and 
security, to include 4 articles in Hillingdon 
People 
 
Completed (Green) – The 
November/December 08 edition of 
Hillingdon People included an article on 
bogus callers and tips on staying safe 
when someone calls at their door, and an 
article on keeping safe in the winter.  
There will be subsequent articles during 
2009. 
 
(Emma Marsh) 
 

Safer 
Hillingdon 
Partnershi
p Annual 
Plan  

P
age 43



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
1b Ed Shaylor 
/ Andy Jones 
 

  1b Presentations by police and other 
agencies at the Assemblies  
 
Completed (Green) 
A presentation was delivered to the Older 
Peoples Assembly on 29th September 
2008. The presentation covered CCTV and 
asked for views from the Assembly to 
inform the Residents Environmental 
Services Policy Overview Committee 
review; also publicised the Burglar 
Alarms project and invited referrals (see 
4a). 
 
A Community Safety talk was delivered to 
the Older People’s Assembly on 15th 
December 2008.  This included 
presentations from the Community Safety 
Team, Fire Brigade, CAB, Age Concern 
and Trading Standards. 
 
(Teresa McKee / Ed Shaylor) 
 

P
age 44



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
1c / 1d Andy 
Jones Safer 
Neighbourhoo
d Teams 
(Stewart 
Walker/Sgt 
Kelly 
Donoghue) 
 

  1c Visits to sheltered housing complexes 
to ensure older people know how to 
report anti-social behaviour and address 
the fear of repercussions by Safer 
Neighbourhood Teams and Safer 
Transport Team, and the Sheltered 
Housing Forum 
 
Completed (Green) 
Safer Neighbourhood Teams visit 
sheltered housing as part of their routine 
community liaison.  Safer Neighbourhood 
Teams have been advised about the 
location of all sheltered housing units in 
the borough and are using these details 
to inform their visits. 
 
(Teresa McKee / Ed Shaylor) 

P
age 45



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
   1d 5 older people (aged 65 years or older) 

will join Ward Safer Neighbourhood Team 
Panels in 2008/09. 
 
Completed (Green) 
There is already good representation from 
older persons on Ward Panels, the 
Community and Police Consultation 
Group (CPCG) and Transport Users 
Forum.  Also, we have active involvement 
within the Borough Wide Neighbourhood 
Watch Scheme and on the Crime 
Prevention Panel that both has good 
representation from people aged 65 or 
older and also reaches out to these 
groups on the various events and road 
shows it participates in.  
 
(Teresa McKee / Ed Shaylor) 

P
age 46



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
2a Sue Pollitt 
 
 
 
 
 

 2. Warn older people 
about bogus callers 
to reduce the risk of 
deception used to 
enter homes and 
steal.  
 
 
 

2a Trading standards will respond to all 
reports of rogue traders targeting older 
people or vulnerable people 
 
Ongoing - Trading Standards have 
responded to all referrals regarding 
possible rogue traders targeting older or 
vulnerable residents. This has included 
contacting the possible victim and talking 
through the circumstances, offering 
appropriate advice and gathering 
intelligence. 
 
Where appropriate e.g. where traders are 
still on site, or are returning to collect 
money allegedly owing, intervention by 
Officers has taken place. 
 
 

P
age 47



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
2b Sue Pollitt / 
Emma Marsh 
 

  2b By March 2009, publish an article in 
Hillingdon People warning about bogus 
callers and other crime prevention 
messages. 
 
Completed (Green) 
Lead article on the older people’s page 
for the November/ December edition of 
Hillingdon People focussed on 
information and advice regarding bogus 
callers. (Emma Marsh) 
 
In addition a production by Attic Theatre 
Company called “Ma Kelly’s Doorstep” 
took place in Brunel Ward on 21st October 
2008.  Brunel Safer Neighbourhood Team 
identified and invited 70 vulnerable 
people aged 65 or over or any older 
person who had been a victim of burglary 
or distraction burglary. The 1-hour event 
included songs and a drama show. 
 
The production has been designed to 
warn older people about the dangers of 
bogus callers and rogue traders.   
 
(Ed Shaylor / Teresa McKee) 
 

P
age 48



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
3a Ed Shaylor 
/ Chris Scott 
 
 
 
 
 

 3. Continue to make 
the streets feel safer, 
particularly in the 
evenings. 
 

3a Develop new initiatives for dealing with 
groups of youths causing anti-social 
behaviour and racial harassment. 
 
Completed (Green) 
A number of initiatives have been held or are 
underway to provide positive activities for young 
people as part of the Children and Families Trust 
plan.  This includes 
• Fiesta programme summer 2008 was the 

largest programme in London. 
• KICKZ football programme is operating in 

Hayes (QPR) and Northwood (Watford). Both 
projects attract between 50 and 100 young 
people and are run on 3 evenings a week.  

• Targeted Youth Support Service being piloted 
in Harlington. 

• Early Intervention Panel diverts young people 
coming to notice. 

• Information about tackling anti-social 
behaviour and nuisance behaviour over 
Halloween and bonfire night was put on the 
council website and distributed via Street 
Champions and Hillingdon Neighbourhood 
Watch. ‘No Trick or Treat’ posters were given 
out by Safer Neighbourhood Teams and 
available to download from the website. 

• Darker Nights campaign is being led by the 
Crime Prevention Office and has encouraged 
people to take extra precautions in the run up 
to Christmas. 

• Updates to the community safety web pages to 
provide more detailed information about 
tackling anti-social behaviour. 

 
(Ed Shaylor/Teresa McKee) 

P
age 49



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
3b / 3c Mary 
Worrall 
 

  3b Work with the Green Spaces Team and 
the Police to provide a rapid response to 
anti-social behaviour in parks and green 
spaces where identified. 

Ongoing (Green)- the green spaces team 
and safer neighbourhood teams are 
working closely on issues where they 
arise to good effect. 
 
3c Ensure there is adequate lighting in 
areas identified as being unsafe. Bring 
forward priorities from 2005-08 older 
peoples plan 
 
Completed (Green) – a programme of 
streetlight improvements, prioritised with 
partners to tackle key safety concerns 
has been agreed and works to install the 
lights is ongoing.  Improvements 
completed on 5 sites and installation 
underway on 2 other sites. (Mary Worrall) 
 

P
age 50



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
4a Ed Shaylor 
/ Mike 
Smooker 
 
 
 

 4. Ensure an increase 
in the number of 
security and personal 
alarms. 
 

4a 500 burglar alarms to be fitted free to 
the homes of vulnerable older people by 
2009 via Age Concern Handy Person 
Scheme and meeting Community Safety 
Team criteria. 
 

Ongoing (Green) 
Scheme has now started with Age Concern with 
171 alarms fitted against target in 2008/09 of 150 
to be fitted.  Scheme continuing into 2009/10. 
 
55 recipients of Age Concern burglar alarms 
returned satisfaction questionnaires.  Of these, 
96% were very or fairly worried about being 
burgled before they got an alarm, only 9% were 
very/fairly worried after they got an alarm.  98% of 
recipients were happy with the alarm, 82% feel 
safer in their own homes after the alarm was 
installed and 36% sleep better at night. 
 
An urgent referral by the burglary squad was dealt 
with swiftly with the residents receiving the 
installed alarm less than 24 hours after the initial 
referral. 
 
Modified alarms have been purchased for 
residents who have severe hearing impairments. 
 
All recipients also receive a home security 
information pack. 
 
Liaising with Environmental Protection Unit, we 
have negotiated a discount for recipients 
interested in joining the London Keyholder 
Database. (Teresa McKee / Ed Shaylor) 
 
 

P
age 51



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
4b Gerard 
Hollingworth 
 

  4b Develop a programme with London Fire 
Brigade to make sure that older people are 
fully aware of the need to test smoke alarms 
and make sure they are working. 2 
presentations to be programmed in for the 
Older People’s Assemblies. 

Completed (Green) 

London Fire Brigade have a dedicated fire 
safety officer to deal with community fire 
safety issues who is targeting older 
people and people with disabilities with 
advice and assistance.  Advice is being 
provided to residents and smoke alarms 
fitted free of charge by operational fire 
fighters. 

Since 1 April 2008, the stations have 
completed 1747 visits (as at 24.03.08) 
compared to 1330 visits last year.  On 
average one and a half smoke alarms per 
visit are fitted (a recommendation is one 
alarm per floor). 

The officer has attended a number of 
community events to promote fire safety 
and reach older people in the community. 
A presentation on fire safety was made to 
the Older Peoples Assembly on 15th 
December 2008. 

(Ed Shaylor / T. McKee) 

 

 

P
age 52



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
5 Chris 
Commerford 
 

 5. Break down the 
barriers between 
older and younger 
people. 
 

5 Time Travellers Project continues 
involving older people visiting schools.   
This initiative is PCT and Hillingdon 
Community Trust funded. 
   
On track (Green): 
43 volunteers now in place exceeding the 
target of 35-40 volunteers. 
 

P
age 53



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
6. Paul Greene 
 
 
 

 6. Strengthen the 
processes for 
safeguarding older 
people from physical, 
financial and verbal 
abuse 

6 Safeguarding adults – campaign 
delivered in the Autumn 2008. 
 
Ongoing (Green) - A robust and in-depth 
safeguarding Adults Improvement Plan 
2008-2009 has been put in place and has 
mostly been delivered, to ensure older 
people and other vulnerable groups are 
protected from abuse. 
 
The Improvement Plan has covered the 
following themes: 
• Making sure safeguarding processes 
are robust and adhered to 

• Providing a wide range of services to 
help prevent abuse and neglect 

• Making sure staff and managers know 
what to do 

• Performance monitoring and quality 
assurance processes 

• Partnership arrangements and the 
multi-agency safeguarding committee. 

 
A high-level body (the Safeguarding 
Adults Partnership Board) was re-
launched in November 2008, with senior 
representation from all agencies.  A new 
governance structure has been 
implemented, modelled on best practice 
across the country.   
 
 
 

P
age 54



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
    A business planning workshop was held 

on 8th December attended by partners and 
Members.  This established the vision and 
priorities for Safeguarding Adults in 
Hillingdon over 2009-12 within a rigorous 
framework. 
 
As part of the 2009-12 Strategic Plan, a 
safeguarding communications 
workstream is being developed that will 
raise awareness of safeguarding issues 
across a number of channels – including 
posters, leaflets, events and the council 
website.  
 
Campaign activities scheduled include 
• Improved website information about 

safeguarding concerns and how to 
report this 

• Measuring staff awareness of 
safeguarding to inform future 
campaign activities 

• Targeting awareness raising and 
briefings to service users and their 
carers, including under-represented 
groups 

 
The communications sub-group of the 
Board will review the success of the 
campaign. 
 
 
 

 

P
age 55



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
2 Preventative 
Care that 
helps people 
to continue 
living at 
home. 

Head of Older 
People’s 
Service/Sarah 
Morris/PCT 
rep/Hillingdon 
Hospital 
rep/Ambulanc
e Service/GP 
and Pharmacy 
rep/  
Belinda Norris 
Kerry Fellows 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Older people 
will live active 
and healthy 
lives in the 
community 

1 Ensure that there 
are adequate 
services for older 
people with Dementia 
and their Carers.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Continue to reduce by 5% the numbers 
of Older People entering residential care 
 
Ongoing (Green) - over the last two years 
the number of older people placed in spot 
purchased care homes has reduced 
significantly and the number of weeks in 
residential or nursing care has fallen. 
 
There can be seasonal increases in 
demand for care home beds during the 
winter months. 
 
Developments in services for older 
people designed to promote independent 
living over the next three years will help 
to reduce the need for care home 
placements.  This includes extra care 
housing, telecare services and 
intermediate care services. 
 
The fall in the number of weeks of 
residential and nursing care indicates that 
older people are being supported longer 
and with greater complexity within a 
community setting.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 56



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 People are treated 
with Dignity and 
Respect whether they 
live at home or in 
residential care. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3 Work with partners 
and the voluntary 
sector to maximise 
on the community 
services they can 
offer to help older 
people make more 
use of dining clubs 
and other social 
facilities which 
stimulate and 
encourage social 
inclusion. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. Deliver the Dignity Challenge workshop 
to care providers by March 2009. 
 
Ongoing (Green) – Care providers in 
Hillingdon are taking part in a self-
assessment against Dignity Challenge 
standards.  The findings from the self-
assessments will be followed up with care 
providers during 2009/10 to ensure 
actions take-place to address any gaps 
found. 
 
3. 2/3 planned events staged in parks to 
encourage social inclusion, dancing and 
physical fitness.  
 
Completed (Green) - The Teddy Bear 
Picnic inter-generational event ran at 
Ruislip Manor in July 08 with 1500 
participants of all ages attending. The 
event was organised by the Family 
Information Service and Supported by 
Healthy Hillingdon. 
 
A number of bowling clubs have run 
“come and try” events with input from 
green spaces staff and these have been 
well received. 
 
This has taken place at Ruislip Bowls 
Club and Eastcote Bowls. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 57



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Andrew 
Knight 
Damien Searle 
Helen Vincent 
Mary Worrall 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Work with partners 
to encourage the 
uptake of allotments 
for social inclusion, 
physical fitness and 
healthy eating.  
Assist with initiatives 
to help older people 
take up gardening 
(raised beds/small 
plots, co-operatives, 
Horticultural 

The Ruislip Woods Open Day included a 
guided walk for people of all ages. 
 
A schedule of future events is available 
from the green spaces team and available 
on the Council’s website. 
 
The Healthy Walks programme has run as 
planned during 2008/09.  In 2008/09 there 
were 2944 participants, with 255 new 
walkers.  There were 215 walks on 11 
sites throughout the year. 
 
(Andrew Knight) 
 
Article about Leader’s dining club visit 
included in May/June 09 edition of 
Hillingdon People (Emma Marsh) 
 
 
 
4. Dining clubs – review the transport 
available to support attendance at dining 
clubs. 
Ongoing (Green) – most people attending 
the voluntary sector-run dining clubs in 
Hillingdon arrange their transport through 
‘dial-a-ride’.  Some dining centres have 
their own mini-buses.  Quarterly meetings 
take place between the council and dining 
centre managers to review issues and 
identify opportunities for shared learning.  
Discussion is continuing with dining 

P
age 58



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
Societies) 
 

clubs to develop ideas for gaining 
customer feedback about how the dining 
centres are working, including areas for 
improvement.  This includes transport 
arrangements to / from the dining clubs.   
 
Overall, Hillingdon Council has increased 
support for dining clubs during 2008/09 
through the Leaders Initiative. 
 
5.  Recruiting 20 volunteers with the 
Allotment Federation and Adult 
Education. 
 
Completed (Green) - 46 volunteers have 
been recruited. 8 volunteers are manning 
stalls in The Pavillions; 26 volunteers are 
site secretaries; and 8 volunteers are on 
the Hillingdon Allotment and Horticultural 
Federation (HAHF). 
 
(Mary Worrall) 
 
 
6. Deliver the allotment strategy to 
promote take-up / maintain use and 
encourage healthy eating and an active 
lifestyle, including: 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 59



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
6.1 Provide new toilet facilities at 3 sites 
identified through the Joint Allotment 
Strategy 
 
Completed (Green) – Composting toilets 
have now been installed. 
 
(Mary Worrall) 
 
6.2 Provide plot preparation to all new 
tenants to assist in start up 
 
Completed (Green) - this service is now 
being provided to all new tenants. 
 
(Mary Worrall) 
 
6.3 Promote introductory sessions to 
allotment gardening with Adult Education 
to older people, including information in 
Hillingdon People. 
 
Completed (Green) – An article appeared 
in Hillingdon People in March/April 09. 
 
Taster sessions were held at two sites in 
May and June 2008 and the uptake of 
allotments continues to rise through 
continuous promotion with partners and 
the work of the borough’s allotments 
officer.   13 sites in the south of the 
Borough have received improvements to 
fencing to improve their safety and 

P
age 60



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
security and signage to many sites has 
been improved.  The number of plots let 
now stands at 1182 out of a possible 1450 
available plots – 82% of plots have been 
let.  Approximately 44% of allotments are 
let to people over 60. 
 
(Mary Worrall) 
 
6.4 The Hillingdon Joint Allotment 
Strategy is updated by December 2008 
and agreed by Cabinet Member lead 
(Environment).  
 
Completed (Green) – Meetings have been 
undertaken with the allotments federation 
to complete the strategy. 
 
(Mary Worrall) 
 
7.  Recruiting 20 volunteers for parks and 
open spaces conservation project.  
 
Completed (Green) - Two significant new 
projects have commenced at Eastcote 
House, which has 14 volunteers, and 
River Pinn, which has 12 volunteers.  This 
is in addition to over 2000 volunteer days 
in Ruislip Woods with 50% provided by 
older people. 
 
(Mary Worrall) 
 

P
age 61



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
3 Keeping 
independent 
and healthy  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sarah Morris 
Andrew 
Knight 
Chris 
Commerford 
David 
Holdstock 
Paul Feven 
Maria Obrien 
Belinda Norris 
Howard Griffin 

Keeping 
independent 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Working with 
health partners to 
tackle the difficulties 
that arise through 
frailty, poor physical 
and mental health, 
poverty and social 
isolation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Work with GPs to 
ensure that older 
people have access 
to treatments and 
therapies which 
support an early 
intervention model. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Preventing social isolation through 
befriending schemes – funded by Social 
Services – 54 volunteers (Increase by 10% 
during 2008/09)  
 

On track (Green) - 44 volunteers are 
placed with an older person providing a 
befriending service. 
 
In addition 2 volunteers are providing 
home share day care for 12 older people 
each week. 
 
 
 
2. Promoting physical and mental 
wellbeing through the active age project 
(17 attendees – increase by 20%).  
 
Completed (Green) – the active age 
project takes place every Tuesday and 
Thursday at the Torrington Road Baptist 
Church, for older people who have left 
hospital as well as those who need 
activities that promote health and well-
being through social interaction, improve 
mobility through gentle exercise and 
build confidence. 
 
The Leader has approved additional 
resources to support this project through 
the Leaders Initiative. 
 
3. Increase take-up of older people using 

Hillingdon 
Health 
Promotion 
Strategy 
 
Joint 
Commissi
oning 
Strategy 
for Older 
People 
 

P
age 62



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
Keeping 
healthy 

3. Reduce the 
number of older 
people going into 
residential care and 
recognising that this 
depends on moving 
more resources into 
intensive home and 
community support. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

leisure services in Hillingdon by 
delivering a media campaign. 
 
Completed (Green) – A leisure campaign 
is scheduled for the new year, 
encompassing promotion of leisure 
services for older people. The launch of 
the campaign is proposed for April 2009.  
The campaign is in the planning stages 
and it is proposed that it will focus on 
‘real’ services for ‘real’ people, with three 
key strands: 
 

• Keep it real: for young people 
• Get real: 20-49 yr olds 
• Real choices: over 50+ 

 
(It has been agreed that for the purposes 
of this campaign, ‘older people’ will 
include those from 50 years old and 
above, to tie in with national guidance 
from on sport activities.) 
 
Consultation with the Older People’s 
Forum will be undertaken prior to 
finalising the campaign details. 
 
Updated information produced for Young 
at Heart scheme at leisure facilities. 
Broader information and opportunities to 
get active for older people will be 
developed in partnership with Age 
Concern by recruiting a 55 plus Activator 

P
age 63



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
to identify gaps in provision, co-ordinate 
and deliver activities. 
 
External Community Investment Fund 
(CIF) secured for new project working 
with Age Concern aimed at people aged 
55+ that would include additional 
marketing, research to identify gaps and 
provide new opportunities for older 
people to get active.  Final element of 
matched funding has been agreed from 
the Leaders initiative - sign off 
agreements with Sport England to 
draw down their funding being 
completed. Recruitment of an 
Active ageing co-ordinator to take 
place during period June/July 09. 
 
4. Research trends in participation of 
leisure services to inform future service 
development.  
 
Completed (Green) - Information on take 
up of swimming by older people obtained 
in preparation for Department for Culture 
Media and Sport free swimming 
programme that is starting in 2009/10. 
Grant funding for free swimming for older 
people for 2 years has now been 
confirmed. 
 
 
An article about this was included on the 

P
age 64



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
Older People’s Page in the May/June 2009 
Hillingdon People.  Free swimming 
scheme now underway. Information and a 
display was made at the Older Peoples 
Assembly in March 2009. The focus is on 
encouraging take up of swimming 
lessons. 
 
5. Develop the use of sheltered housing 
by older people in the local community – 
including particularly vulnerable people 
(as part of the Sheltered Housing and 
Extra Care Strategy). 
 
Ongoing (Green).  The implementation 
phase of the Sheltered Housing and Extra 
Care Strategy is underway. This is 
composed of a number of distinct 
projects, including:  

• Agreeing models of extra care for 
development in Hillingdon 

• Working with Hillingdon Homes to 
investigate the feasibility of 
developing 24 hour extra care 
schemes within existing sheltered 
housing 

• Working with housing associations 
to investigate the feasibility of 
developing 24 hour extra care 
schemes on new built sites 
including West Ruislip MOD site 

(Paul Feven) 
7. Help to reduce the number of older 

P
age 65



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
people experiencing a fall by working with 
health and voluntary sector services to 
provide practical information and advice 
to older people. 
 
Completed (Green) – Hillingdon Council 
has commissioned handy person 
schemes to help older people to remain 
independent, living in their own home.  
This includes a scheme provided by Age 
Concern. 
 
In addition to the scheme provided by 
Age Concern, there is also a 
complementary scheme for people aged 
65 years or older to provide assistance 
with minor repairs and urgent problems in 
the home e.g. blocked sink, leaking tap.  
 
6. Development of pharmacies as sources 
of health information - 2 (out of 6) 
Choosing Health campaigns are delivered 
by March 2009 with pharmacists focussed 
on issues affecting older people. 
 
Completed (Green) - 3 Campaigns run 
with 64 pharmacies.  Information also 
sent to all libraries and occupational 
health workers at Hillingdon Hospital, 
Grassy Meadows Day Service and 2 GP 
practices involved in developing practice 
based health promotion. 
 

P
age 66



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
Campaign themes: Physical Activity 
(April), Safe in the Sun (July), Mental 
Health (September). 11,000 leaflets 
distributed with supporting posters. 
 
Additional campaigns include Keep Warm 
Keep Well in Winter Campaign. 
 
(Andrew Knight) 
 
7. Mental Health sub-group is developing 
a care pathway to promote early 
diagnosis in relation to dementia/mental 
health. 
 
Ongoing (Green) – the mental health sub-
group are continuing to meet to progress 
the mental health strategy.  Consultation 
on the national dementia strategy has 
been undertaken locally by the sub-
group. 
 
8. Development of an Independent Living 
strategy by March 2009 which sets out the 
vision for services which help people to 
remain living in their own home. 
 
Ongoing (Green) – A stakeholder event 
was held in March 09 to scope the 
strategy. The project has now been 
extended so that the Independent Living 
Strategy becomes part of an overarching 
commissioning strategy covering all care 

P
age 67



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
groups that form the basis of a 3 – 5 year 
work programme for the Healthier 
Communities and Older People Theme 
Group. This will be delivered by October 
2009. (Paul Feven) 
 
9. Expand take-up of technology that 
assists people to remain living at home – 
150 people by March 2009. 
 
Completed (Green) - 251 people have 
received assistive technology to assist 
with daily living - helping to maintain 
independence and keeping people safe at 
home.  (Gary Collier) 
 

4 Tackling 
Age 
Discrimination 

Kevin Byrne 
Heads of 
Service 
Chris 
Commerford 
 

Older people 
will cease to be 
part of any age 
discrimination 

1. Publicise how 
older people can 
complain about 
equality and achieve 
a successful 
outcome. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Monitor and report quarterly on 
complaints received across partners and 
other customer feedback about Age 
Discrimination and the action taken to 
tackle this.  
 
Ongoing (Green) - The council’s new 
single equality scheme now includes 
within its scope age discrimination, and 
this includes an age duty, which gives 
us the following responsibilities: 
• Eliminate unlawful discrimination  
• Promote equality of opportunity  
• Promote good relations between 

people of different ages 
 
As well as this the council where 

 

P
age 68



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
appropriate, monitors inputs by age, 
and will take the following steps:  
• Collect and analyse accurate data for 

all relevant policies, practices and 
functions identified as high priority  

• Present the data and analysis to the 
senior management teams.  

• Determine what action we need to take 
to tackle any adverse impact, gaps or 
differences identified by our 
monitoring.  

• Make the necessary changes to our 
policies.  

• Publish the results of our monitoring.  
 

In addition to this scheme the council use 
equality impact assessments to ensure 
their policies, procedures and services 
are planned and delivered in a manner 
that provides equal life chances to all our 
residents. 

 
Each service has a complaints officer, 
and all complaints are monitored by age 
to determine if there is an indirect affect 
on different age groups. 
 
So far there have been no complaints to 
the council based directly on age 
discrimination.   Similarly cases to 
partner organisations (such as CAB) are 
low. 

P
age 69



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
 
Age Concern are actively seeking to 
report and address any cases of age 
discrimination. (Kevin Byrne) 
 
2. Actively promote how older people can 
make a complaint, pass on their concerns 
or access help to make a complaint – a 
promotional article in Hillingdon People 
by March 2009. 
 
Completed (Green) - Hillingdon People 
article appeared on the Older People’s 
Page in March/April 09 edition (Emma 
Marsh) 
 

5 Planning for  
retirement 

Kevin 
Byrne/David 
Holdstock 

Older people 
will, if they 
choose to do 
so, remain 
active 
members of 
the community 
both in the 
private and 
public sector. 

1. We will improve 
the Council Website 
to assist with 
information on 
planning for 
retirement, working 
or volunteering. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. We will publicise 

1. By July 2008 publish information about 
planning for retirement, employment and 
volunteering, linked to the life events 
project for older people. 
 
Completed (Green) – Following extensive 
research and consultation to ensure the 
Life Changes project meets the needs of 
older people, the website has now been 
developed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.  Assist HAVS to recruit new volunteers 

 

P
age 70



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
opportunities in 
Hillingdon People. 
 
 
 

through Hillingdon People and publish 
their targets.  LAA stretch target is 1300 
(2008 – 2011). Target for 08/09 is 400. 
 
On track (Green) - The Local Area 
Agreement stretch target is measured 
through a survey.  
  
HAVS volunteer centre data is being used 
as a local indicator for progress towards 
meeting the target, and current figures 
show good progress with 1009 additional 
volunteers added since April 2007.  
  
The number of residents on the database 
at the volunteer centre has continued to 
increase.  HAVS, Hillingdon Council and 
Brunel are working together to ensure 
that we continue to enhance volunteering 
opportunities, ensure that members of the 
Hillingdon's community recognise that 
they are volunteers and that they are 
valued for their contribution through 
celebrating their achievements. 
 
This activity includes the 2009 / 2010 
Volunteer Achievement Awards, volunteer 
week 2009 and various community events 
over the summer period. The events will 
strive to ensure the profile of volunteering 
is raised and we reach those volunteers 
that are in the more traditional voluntary 
roles (sports clubs, amateur dramatics 

P
age 71



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
and schools) where volunteers consider 
themselves as 'helpers' and not 
necessarily 'volunteers'. 
 
(Richard Robbins) 
 
3. At least one article per year about 
planning for retirement, employment and 
volunteering.  
 
Ongoing (Green) – A double page spread 
about volunteering was included in the 
May/June edition of Hillingdon People 
article. (Emma Marsh) 
 

6 Housing Paul Feven Older people 
would prefer to 
live in extra 
care housing 
given a choice 
between that 
and residential 
care. 

1. Provide access to 
information and 
advice about 
improvements and 
adaptations that 
enable older people 
to continue living in 
their own home. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Deliver the  

1. Provide information about housing 
options, home improvements and 
adaptations, to include information at an 
Older Peoples Assembly by March 2009 
and information in Hillingdon People. 
 
Completed (Green) - Hillingdon People 
article scheduled for March/April edition. 
Information provided at Older Peoples 
Assembly in March 2009. (Paul Feven) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. By March 2009, launch the Council’s 

Housing 
Strategy 
 
Sheltered 
Housing 
and Extra 
Care 
Strategy 
 
Independe
nt living 
strategy  
 
 
 
 
 
Joint 

P
age 72



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
strategy for sheltered 
housing and extra 
care. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. Provide a range of 
housing options for 
older people 

publication ‘Housing options and support 
services for older people: assistance you 
can get to help you stay in your own 
home and housing options if you want to 
leave.’  The publication to be launched at 
the Older Peoples Assembly, placed on 
the Council’s website and ensure all 
relevant agencies have copies.  
 
Completed (Green) – Launched at the 
Older Peoples Assembly in March 2009. 
(Paul Feven) 
 
3. Consult with stakeholders on the 
Council’s Strategy, particularly those 
living in sheltered housing. 
 
Completed (Green). Implementation 
phase of strategy now in progress. (Paul 
Feven) 
 
4. Give greater priority within sheltered 
housing for vulnerable people and those 
needing housing support. 
 
Ongoing (Green) – Recommendations for 
changes to access and assessment for 
sheltered housing to be completed as 
part of Sheltered Housing and Extra Care 
project and reported to Cabinet for 
approval. (Paul Feven) 
 
5. Work with partners to deliver specialist 

Commissi
oning 
Strategy 
for Older 
People 
Strategy 
for older 
people 
with 
mental 
health 
needs 
 

P
age 73



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
extra care within the Borough 
 
Ongoing (Green) – Discussions are 
underway with McCarthy and Stone 
regarding the development of private 
sector assisted living housing specifically 
for older people on the RAF site in West 
Ruislip.  
 
In addition, extra care facilities will be 
provided on the same site by the council 
in partnership with Paradigm Housing 
Association. A detailed application was 
heard and approved at planning 
committee in December 2008. Delivery of 
the extra care facility is anticipated by 
April 2011. (Paul Feven). 
 
6. Improve the condition of existing 
council sheltered housing 
 
Ongoing (Green) - Generally, all sheltered 
schemes meet the decent homes 
standard.  A number of small 
programmes of work remain to upgrade 
fire precautions, make improvements to 
the environment and security, and to 
enable compliance with the Disability 
Discrimination Act (e.g. door automation 
and stair lifts). 
 
 
Improvements to sheltered housing has 

P
age 74



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
been the focus of a successful bid to the 
GLA this year. Overall Hillingdon Homes 
obtained £1.7 million over three years 
including £180,000 for a pilot programme 
to improve sheltered schemes.  
 
(Paul Feven) 
 
7. Provide existing social housing 
specifically to people aged over 55. 
 
Completed (Green) – At Cabinet on 18th 
December 2008, Cabinet agreed to 
designate certain blocks of flats in 
Hillingdon to be let only to people aged 55 
years of age or older. 
 
 
8. Develop new high quality housing for 
older people as part of the Council’s 
pipelines sites project. 
 
On going (Green) – this is a core element 
of the council’s Housing Revenue 
Account Pipeline Sites programme. 
Following a meeting with the Affordable 
Housing Policy Group in January 09, 
officers are investigating the feasibility of 
a joint venture partnership with 
developers and financial institutions. 
(Paul Feven) 
 

7 Learning Helen Vincent Older people 1. Older people are 1. By March 2009, target older people  

P
age 75



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
and sharing 
skills 

Jan Lynn 
David 
Holdstock 

will learn new 
skills as well 
as sharing 
their wealth of 
experience 
with younger 
people. 

helped to develop 
skills and knowledge 
to use the computer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

living in sheltered housing with 
information and advice about the support 
available to improve their computer skills 
 
Ongoing (Green) – A number of initiatives 
are underway to promote the use of 
information technology for people living 
in sheltered housing.  
  
 
This includes: 
•         Posters within sheltered housing 

schemes will be used to remind 
tenants of available IT resources in 
their area. 

•         All the information packs offered to 
new tenants have information on how 
to access IT resources.  

•         Exploring options to install IT 
facilities in communal areas of 
sheltered housing schemes and 
thereby extend access to technology. 
Three schemes now have use of IT in 
the communal lounges and we will be 
expanding this to additional sites in 
partnership with Age Concern in the 
coming year 

•          In the Spring 2009 edition of our bi-
annual newsletter for tenants we will 
be informing our tenants about any 
new facilities and training which will 
be offered in partnership with Brunel 
and Age Concern. 

P
age 76



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
 
2. Ensure access to 
language classes for 
those who do not 
speak English. 
 
 

 
2. Promote the support available to 
develop skills to make best use of the 
computer – an article in Hillingdon People 
by March 2009 
 
Completed (Green): Article included in 
Jan/Feb edition of Hillingdon People, 
focussing on the whole offer of adult 
education classes, with the main focus on 
computer skills. (Emma Marsh) 
 
3. By March 2009 publish information 
about how people can access support 
and assistance to learn English 
 
Completed (Green): information about 
accessing support and assistance 
reviewed and updated on the Council’s 
website. 
 
(Emma Marsh) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8 Consulting David Older people 1. Supporting the 1. Continue to develop access to the  

P
age 77



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
and informing Holdstock 

Kevin Byrne 
 

will have clear 
accurate and 
timely 
information 

Older People’s 
Assembly. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Older Peoples Assembly through 
telephone conferencing and other 
methods. 
 
On track (Green) – for each Assembly, 
380 people in receipt of a service from the 
Meals Service receive a feedback form 
inviting comments and questions to be 
made to the Assembly for those people 
unable to attend.  In addition, 80 care 
homes receive a feedback form for older 
people and / or their relatives to complete, 
to pass on requests, issues or comments 
to the Older Peoples Assembly. 
 
The Chairman for the Older Peoples 
Assembly is exploring with the FORCE 
group other possibilities and preferred 
methods to strengthen access to the 
Older Peoples Assembly. (John Morgan) 
 
Work has been done with FORCe group 
members to improve the representative 
nature of the group and that it reflects the 
needs and wishes of older people.  This 
has been accomplished by making sure 
that they are identified to Assembly 
attendees, who are provided with means 
of contacting them. 
 
An ‘Enjoying retirement in Hillingdon’ 
section of the Life Changes initiative for 
the Council website is being developed.  

P
age 78



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Supporting the 
Leader’s Initiative. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. Supporting other 
forums that offer a 
direct voice to older 
people in the 
development of 
service planning and 
delivery. 
 
 
 
 
 

Discussions are also taking place 
between FORCe and the Local 
Information Network for adult social care 
and health (LINk) as to how the latter can 
be used to capture the views and 
concerns of older people in care homes 
and to give them the opportunity to have 
their say at Assembly meetings. (Paul 
Feven) 
 
2. Collecting bids for consideration/ 
approval. 
Completed (Green) - Under the Leader's 
Initiative 2008-9, the high-profile burglar 
alarm scheme for older residents was 
launched and has been implemented (see 
1.4a). Further bids from the voluntary 
sector, dining centres and residents have 
been approved by the Leader. 
(Kevin Byrne) 
 
3. Regular meetings with the Black 
Minority Ethnic Elders Forum prior to the 
older people’s assemblies. 
 
Ongoing (Green) – the Chairman for the 
Older Peoples Assembly attended a 
meeting of the Black Minority Ethnic 
Elders Forum in November 2008 in 
preparation for the Older Peoples 
Assembly in December 2008.  
 
The February 2009 Black Minority Elders 

P
age 79



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Making best use of 
Hillingdon People to 
inform and consult 
on matters which 
affect the daily lives 
of older people. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Improve access to 

Forum agreed that a Council officer 
should attend its meeting following each 
Assembly to provide a summary of what 
took place and also give members the 
opportunity to influence the agenda for 
the subsequent Assembly. (Paul Feven)  
 
 
4.  Page in every issue dedicated to older 
people. 
 
Completed (Green) - The older people’s 
page was introduced in the September/ 
October 08 edition of the magazine and 
was launched with a feature article on the 
older people’s plan. 
 
The page was reviewed for the 
January/February 09 edition to include 
more information on what the council is 
doing for older people and provide details 
of new initiatives available to them e.g. 
funding for services through the Leader’s 
Initiative, older people’s assembly etc. 
(Emma Marsh) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. By March 2009: 

P
age 80



Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Outcome Lead Officer Objective 
taken from the 

Plan 

Action 
 

Target 2008-2011 
 

Links to 
other 

strategies 
information 
particularly around 
consumer protection 
and community 
safety 

- find out what best practice information 
is already available about key issues / 
concerns affecting older people.  
-actively provide older people with 
information about the advice, support and 
assistance available using a variety of 
different routes and databases. 
 
Completed (Green) - article regarding 
bogus callers was included on the older 
people’s page of the November/December 
edition of Hillingdon People and 
promoted at the Older Peoples Assembly 
in December 2008. (Emma Marsh) 

Updated 11/05/09, Ver 7.3 P
age 81



P
age 82

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
    

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

CHANGES TO THE HOUSING ALLOCATION POLICY  
 
Cabinet Member  Councillor Philip Corthorne  
   
Cabinet Portfolio  Social Services, Health and Housing 
   
Officer Contact  Neil Stubbings & Beatrice Cingtho, Adult Social Care, Health and 

Housing 
 

   

Papers with report  Appendix One: Housing Register Demand March 2009 
Appendix Two: Lettings analysis during 2004/2007  
 

 
HEADLINE INFORMATION 
 
Purpose of report 
 

 This report is presented to Cabinet for approval of the changes 
required to the Council’s housing allocation policy.  
 

   
Contribution to our 
plans and strategies 

 The recommendations contribute to the council’s priority of 
improving health; housing and social care for residents.  

   
Financial Cost  None 
   
Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee 

 Social Services, Health & Housing 
 

   
Ward(s) affected  All  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Cabinet approve the following changes to the allocation policy: 
 
1. Award additional priority to couples aged over 21 without children. 
 
2. Award additional priority to those who have lived in the borough for a minimum of 

ten years continuously at the time of applying for re-housing. 
 
3. Create a local lettings policy for ex-service personnel. 

 
4. Allocate a fixed number of social housing units to the identified groups. 

 
5. Designate additional blocks to those aged over 55.  

 
6. Delegate authority to the Director of Adult Social Care, Health & Housing in 

conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Social Services, Health & Housing to 
review the properties designated as blocks for over 55s and amend the blocks so 
designated based on the principles agreed in the December 2008 report. 

 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 83



 
    

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

INFORMATION 
 
Reasons for recommendation 
 
1. One of the ways the Council can drive up aspirations and create a true borough of 
opportunity is through carefully thought out improvements to the Housing Allocations Scheme. 
The Council is proposing the three changes in order to encourage greater social responsibility 
within the community. As a result, officers have developed proposals to allocate a proportion of 
social housing to be targeted at specific client groups. 

 
Alternative options considered 
 
2. Not to approve the changes to the allocations policy as detailed within the body of the report. 
 
3. To change some of the proposals detailed within the body of the report. 
 
Comments of Policy Overview Committee(s) 
 
None at this stage. 
 
Supporting Information 
 
4. One of the ways the Council can drive up aspirations and create a true borough of 
opportunity is through carefully thought out improvements to the Housing Allocations Scheme.   
To help facilitate this, the Council is therefore proposing three changes to encourage greater 
social responsibility within the community. 
 
5. However, in making any proposal, the council has a duty to ensure they remain within the 
legislative framework governing the allocation of housing within its area. 
 
6. The Council receives many housing applications from people who want to be housed every 
year. However, there are not enough properties to meet demand and the council has a system 
for prioritising allocation of properties based on housing need known as the ‘Housing Allocation 
policy’   
 
7. Allocation of council accommodation is set within a legal framework contained within the 
Housing Act 1996 and subsequent amendments made by Homelessness Act 2002.  In order to 
ensure compliance with these provisions the council must give reasonable preference to certain 
groups.  Within our choice-based letting system this is achieved using Bands A to C. This 
means that the highest priority for housing is given to people with the most need.  These groups 
include: 
 
• People who are homeless 
• People occupying unsanitary, overcrowded or otherwise unsatisfactory housing 
• People who require supported accommodation, for example sheltered accommodation  
• People who need to move for medical or welfare reasons and  
• People requiring accommodation as part of a care plan. 
 
8. Under the Housing Act 1996, councils are also able to give additional preference to people in 
the above categories that are considered to have more urgent housing needs. 
 
9. In making any change to the policy, the main principles to be considered are that: 

Page 84



 
    

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

• It does not significantly impact upon those with reasonable preference (under the Hillingdon 
scheme those in Bands A - C). 

• It does not significantly impact upon the allocation scheme as a whole. 
• It does not impact adversely on any particular needs group or community e.g. people from 

BME communities. 
• The reason for the revision can be justified. 

 
10. A table showing levels of demand for housing is contained within Appendix One whilst an 
analysis of lettings is shown in Appendix Two. 
 
 
Changes to the allocation system 
 
11. The following paragraphs of the report set out proposals for the allocation of certain units of 
accommodation to the following groups: 
 
• Couples over 21 without children. 
• Households with local connection, and 
• Ex-service personnel. 
 
12. It is proposed that in order to implement a legally sustainable proposal, the changes require 
allocating a fixed number of social housing to the three identified groups. Couples over 21 
without children and those with local connection will be awarded additional preference.  In 
practice, this means an additional 12 months to their waiting time which will result in a higher 
priority, as the principle of the allocation policy is that no one should overtake another client in 
the same priority ‘band’ except through length of waiting time.  Ex-service personnel will be 
given priority  under a local lettings policy that enables local authorities to take into account local 
circumstances. 
 
Their needs have been balanced against the demand and availability of social housing in the 
borough to ensure that the changes do not significantly impact upon the housing allocation 
scheme as a whole. The rationale for the fixed percentage of properties is set out below 
following advice from Counsel as being legally compliant and liable to successfully withstand a 
legal challenge. 
 
13. The council allocates approximately 1000 properties per year.  Targeting 10% of the total 
lettings towards the identified groups are considered reasonable as this would correlate to 100 
reserved properties.    

 
Ex-service personnel will be reserved 10 properties per year whilst further research is carried 
out to establish the current level of demand from these groups. The remaining 90 properties 
have been split proportionally between childless couples and those who meet the local 
connection criteria currently within bands A to C i.e. current level of determined housing need. 
     
14. There are 29 childless couples accounting for 22.13% of the remaining 90 
properties, meaning a proportional lettings figure of 20 properties. 
There are 102 households meeting the ten-year local connection criteria who would account for 
77.87% of the cases, meaning a proportional lettings figure of the remaining 70 properties. 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



 
    

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Table One:  Summary of proposal 
 
Identified groups Demand Fixed lettings 
Childless couples 29 20 
Local connection 10+ years 102 70 
Ex service personnel Unknown 10 
Total  100 
 
The detail of the proposal for each group follows below: 
 
New quota for couples aged 21 without children 
 
15. As councils are able to give additional preference to particular groups who fall within the 
reasonable preference groups, couples aged 21 without children would be given additional 
priority.  There are currently 29 childless couples aged between 21 and 54 on the register (see 
Table Two below) and it is proposed that a fixed number of 20 one bedroom properties units 
each year be allocated to this group.  

 
• As this group are already in Bands A-C, the proposal is legally compliant, as they will not be 

depriving other groups within the allocation scheme of units that might otherwise have been 
allocated to them. 

 
• Each year one bedroom general needs properties available to let represents approximately 

33% of total supply (330 out of 1000). A quota of 6% is considered sufficient such that it will 
not skew the allocations to others who have reasonable preference and the allocation 
scheme as a whole. 

 
• The justification in relation to the amendment needs to be backed up by evidence, which 

shows that social housing allocated to childless couples aged over 21 may affect future 
behaviour.  We have been unable to obtain any studies or research in this area to date. It is 
therefore proposed that it is implemented as a pilot for a year whilst such research is 
commissioned to provide the evidence base to show that allocating social housing to this 
group can increase aspirations and employability in young couples who can then break any 
dependency cycles of low aspirations or levels of achievement before having children. This 
may be required in case of a legal challenge.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



 
    

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Table Two – Demand from Childless couples aged 21 to 54 
 

Demand from childless couples, aged 21 – 54  
(Mar 09 snapshot)  

  0/1 2 3 4+ Totals 
All Bands 113 3 0 0 116 

White 
(79%)* 

Bands A - C 
only 17 2  0  0 

19 
(66%) 

All Bands 71 0 0 0 71 
BME 
(19%)* 

Bands A - C 
only 5 0  0  0 

5 
(17%) 

All Bands 34 0 0  0 34 
Other 
(2%)* 

Bands A - C 
only 3  0  0  0 

3 
(10%) 

All Bands 6 0 0  0  6 

Unknown 
Bands A - C 

only 2 0 0  0  2 (7%) 
       

All Bands 224 3 0 0 227 

TOTALS 
Bands A - C 

only 27 2 0 0 29 
  * From 2001 census  
 
 
Households with local connection 
 
16. Most prospective tenants of affordable rented housing in Hillingdon are on low incomes and 
are fairly long term residents, having established strong local links in an area in terms of family, 
schools, health and social networks. This has resulted in a creation of stable communities 
where people have meaningful long term attachments and one of the ways of encouraging this 
stability is by helping meet their housing need.  
 
17. In determining relative priorities between applicants who fall within one of the reasonable 
preference categories (those in Bands A-C), it is proposed to introduce an additional preference 
for those who have lived in the London Borough of Hillingdon for ten years continuously at the 
time of applying for re-housing. 
 
18. Having analysed the 102 households who would be awarded additional priority for local 
connection reasons, officers have ensured that this proposal does not discriminate against any 
ethnic group in relation to the population in the borough as indicated below. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



 
    

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Table Three – Waiting time on the register 10+ years 
 

Waiting Times - 10+ years 
(Mar 09 snapshot)  

  0/1 2 3 4+ Totals 
All Bands 77 27 29 16 149 

White 
(79%*) 

Bands A - C 
only 19 11 19 14 

63 
(61.8%) 

All Bands 10 12 12 18 52 
BME 
(19%*) 

Bands A - C 
only 2 4 7 17 

30 
(29.4%) 

All Bands 3 2 7 1 13 
Other 
(2%*) 

Bands A - C 
only 2 1 5 3 

9 
(8.8%) 

All Bands 0 0 0 0 0 

Unknown 
Bands A - C 

only 0 0 0 0 0 
       

All Bands 90 41 48 35 214 

TOTALS 
Bands A - C 

only 23 16 31 32 102 
* From 2001 census 

 
 
Ex-Service personnel 
 
19. It is proposed to introduce a local lettings policy for ex-service personnel. The objective of 
this scheme is to: 

• improve the long term life chances of ex-service personnel households 
• remove barriers to accessing social housing  
 

20. Current homeless legislation recognises that some ex-service personnel are vulnerable and 
therefore entitled to housing assistance. However, vulnerability could be due to the 
circumstances under which they are discharged, age, disability, income or other post traumatic 
stress. Legislation has also been recently amended to address issues of intentionality and local 
connection such that when ex-service personnel vacate their quarters as a result of giving 
notice to leave the service, they are not considered to have made themselves intentionally 
homeless. In addition, the local connection requirement was abolished in July 2008 enabling ex 
service personnel to establish connection in an area in the same way as a civilian for housing 
purposes.  Therefore under the homelessness legislation, barriers to social housing access for 
ex-service personnel have been addressed.   
 
21. However, the Council recognises that there are other circumstances where access to 
alternative accommodation may be necessary without the immediate threat of homelessness or 
clear vulnerability. Under current Housing Allocation policy, priority in joining the housing 
register is not given to ex service personnel as a group but on an individual case basis, similar 
to other applicants.  As the Armed Forces personnel are usually provided with housing during 
service, this can be problematic for those wishing to apply for social housing while awaiting 
discharge. For example, it can take up to two year for those awaiting medical discharge and yet 
during this period they are still considered as employed, therefore making alternative living 
arrangements during the process difficult. 

Page 88



 
    

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

 
22. In accordance with Section 167(2E), Councils are able to allocate accommodation to people 
of a particular description whether or not they fall within the statutory reasonable preference 
categories under a local lettings policy. It is therefore proposed to give sympathetic 
consideration to the housing needs of ex-service personnel by awarding them ‘Band C’ priority 
as a specific group.   
 
23. Where the Council operate local lettings policies, it will need to ensure that overall, 
reasonable preference for allocations is given to applicants in the reasonable preference 
categories. Therefore, in order to ensure that this secondary criteria does not dominate the 
‘allocation scheme’ at the expense of the statutory preference categories, it is proposed a fixed 
number of 10 social housing units a year be set as outlined in Table One of this report. 
 
Designating additional blocks to those aged over 55 
 
24. On 8th December 2008, Cabinet approved the designation of 8 blocks as older person 
accommodation.  Following further enquiry from a Councillor about another block in the 
Uxbridge Ward, officers have carried out another review of the whole borough. This is because 
there is no written policy covering this area and previous identification of such blocks was based 
on staff memory, custom and practice built up over the years before the implementation of 
choice based lettings system in 2002.   
 
As a result, 4 additional blocks have been identified which are currently not sheltered housing 
but are predominantly occupied and considered by tenants as older persons’ housing.  
 
25.  It is therefore recommended that the 4 additional blocks in Table Four below be designated 
for occupation by residents over the age of 55. 
 
26. It also recommended that delegated authority is given to officers to take properties in and 
out of the scheme as changes occur.  This will be based on the same principles that Cabinet 
approved before, whereby blocks will be excluded if there are significant numbers of: 
 

• 2 bedroom properties  
• existing leaseholders and  
• existing households under 55 years of age  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



 
    

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Table Four 
 

Block Total 1 
bed units 

Of which 
let to <55 

Of which 
sold  

Total supply 
available for 
re-lets 

Rickard Close, 
West Drayton. Nos 
16-26 even and 28-
38 even 

12 2 0 12 

Greatfields Drive, 
Hillingdon. Nos 1-6 
[8 flats] and Nos 30-
35 [6 flats] 

14 3 0 14 

Churchfield Close 
Hayes 

24 5 3 27 

Peter Fagan House 
[1-28], Guinness 
Close, Hayes 

25 3* 0 28 

Total 75 13 3 81 
 
* Block of 28 includes three 2 bed flats let to people with disabilities under 55 years. 
 
 
Financial Implications 
 
27. The Council could incur legal costs if a judicial review challenge of the proposals is 
successful.   
 
EFFECT ON RESIDENTS, SERVICE USERS & COMMUNITIES 
 
What will be the effect of the recommendation? 
 
28. The recommendation has been balanced so that there is no significant adverse impact on 
any particular group of the community as well as other households in housing need.  In addition, 
whilst particular groups are awarded additional priority, it does not significantly impact upon the 
housing allocation scheme as a whole.   
 
Consultation Carried Out or Required 
 
29. A copy of the draft proposed alteration was sent to every Registered Social Landlord in the 
borough and West London authorities.  In addition, information was placed on the council’s 
website, Locata website and one edition of the Locata magazine. The tenants currently living in 
the blocks proposed to be designated to those aged over 55 were advised of the changes by 
letter. 
 
30. Comments received were generally supportive of the proposals but individuals did express 
some reservations as to whether they will benefit from the changes when implemented.  
 
31. Responses were also received from Paradigm Association, Thames Valley Housing 
Association and Hammersmith & Fulham who were mainly in support of the changes but 
required further detail on the implementation of the proposals. The latter however, raised some 

Page 90



 
    

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

concerns on the local connection proposal citing a policy of the BNP in Barking and Dagenham 
and the connotations this may have if adopted. 
 
CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Corporate Finance 
 
32.  A corporate finance officer has reviewed the report and the financial implications within it, 
and is satisfied that the financial implications properly reflect the risks associated within the 
proposed changes to the Council’s housing allocation policy.  . 
 
Legal 
 
33.  “Section 167(1), Housing Act 1996 requires every local housing authority to have an 
allocation scheme for determining priorities, and as to the procedure to be followed, in allocating 
housing accommodation.  By section 167(8) a local housing authority shall not allocate housing 
accommodation except in accordance with its allocation scheme.  
 
34. Before making an alteration to its allocation scheme reflecting a major change of policy, a 
local housing authority is required by section 167(7) to send a copy of the proposed alteration to 
every registered social landlord with whom it has nomination arrangements and afford them a 
reasonable opportunity to comment on the proposals."  
 
Corporate Property 
N/A 
  
Relevant Service Groups 
N/A 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
1. Current Housing Allocations Scheme – available on the council’s website under Housing          

Services, Allocations policy http://lbho.hillingdon.gov.uk/housing/index.php 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



 
    

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Appendix One – Housing register demand as at March 2009. 
 
Demand as at March 2009 (snapshot) 
   WHITE BME 

OTHER / 
UNKNOWN TOTALS 

Number 192120 46642 4244 243006 
*Hillingdon Borough 

% 79.06% 19.19% 1.75%  
Number 4124 3281 1082 8,487 

All Bands 
% 48.6% 38.7% 12.7%  

Number 1759 1401 486 3646 

**Total Housing 
Register 

Bands A - C only 
% 48.2% 38.4% 13.4%  

Number 588 578 139 1305 
All Bands 

% 45.1% 44.3% 10.6%  

Number 523 543 131 1197 

**Homeless 
applicants 

Bands A - C only 
% 43.7% 45.4% 10.9%  

Number 1051 470 153 1,674 
All Bands 

% 62.8% 28.1% 9.1%  

Number 676 288 106 1068 

**Existing Council 
and Housing 

Association tenants 
wanting transfer Bands A - C only 

% 63.2% 26.9% 9.9%  
Number 2485 2233 790 5508 

All Bands 
% 45.1% 40.5% 14.4%  

Number 560 570 251 1381 

**First time 
applicants living in 
private sector or 

with family & friends Bands A - C only 
% 40.6% 41.2% 18.2%  

Source: 
* - 2001 census  
** - Housing register demand 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



 
    

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Appendix Two – Lettings analysis for all lets excluding sheltered units April 2004 to 
March 2007. 
 
Lettings Analysis - Apr 2004 - Mar 2007 ("SUPPLY")    
        

(EXCLUDING SHELTERED LETS)      

        
 All Age Groups 

 
With 

Children 
Childless 
Singles 

Childless 
Couples TOTAL 

% with 
children 

% 
Childless 
Singles 

% 
Childless 
Couples 

All Bands 1465 1378 132 2975 49.24% 46.32% 4.44% 
Bedsits 0 376 0 376 0.53% 99.47% 0.00% 
1 Beds 4 888 96 988 0.40% 89.88% 9.72% 
2+ Beds 1459 116 36 1611 90.56% 7.20% 2.23% 

Band A 156 183 29 368 42.39% 49.73% 7.88% 

Bedsits 0 60 0 60 0.00% 100.00% 0.00% 
1 Beds 0 112 21 133 0.00% 84.21% 15.79% 
2+ Beds 156 11 8 175 89.14% 6.29% 4.57% 

Band B 378 591 19 988 38.26% 59.82% 1.92% 

Bedsits 0 93 0 93 0.00% 100.00% 0.00% 
1 Beds 1 476 8 485 0.21% 98.14% 1.65% 
2+ Beds 377 22 11 410 91.95% 5.37% 2.68% 

Band C 882 500 64 1446 61.00% 34.58% 4.43% 

Bedsits 0 171 0 171 1.17% 98.83% 0.00% 
1 Beds 3 264 49 316 0.95% 83.54% 15.51% 
2+ Beds 877 67 15 959 91.45% 6.99% 1.56% 

Band D 49 104 20 173 28.32% 60.12% 11.56% 

Bedsits 0 52 0 52 0.00% 100.00% 0.00% 
1 Beds 0 36 18 54 0.00% 66.67% 33.33% 
2+ Beds 49 16 2 67 73.13% 23.88% 2.99% 

 
 

Page 93



Page 94

This page is intentionally left blank



  
   

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

GIFT FUNDING FOR PLANNING FUNCTIONS 
 
Cabinet Member  Councillor Keith Burrows 
   
Cabinet Portfolio  Planning and Transportation 
   
Officer Contact  Stephen Timms / Jales Tippell, Planning & Community Services 
   
Papers with report  None 
 
HEADLINE INFORMATION 
 
Purpose of report 
 

 This report considers the offer of a gift from VSM Estates (Vinci/St 
Modwen Properties plc) in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003. The gift is to meet 
the Council’s reasonable and justifiable costs associated with the 
discharge of its planning function, in the lead up to submission of a 
planning application for the RAF Uxbridge site. This will ensure 
appropriate resources are dedicated to the pre-application process 
consistent with the importance of this project to the borough. It is 
recommended that the gift be accepted. 

   
Contribution to our 
plans and strategies 

 The recommendations will assist the planning process to help 
realise the objectives of the Sustainable Community Strategy and 
the adopted RAF Uxbridge Supplementary Planning Document.  

   
Financial Cost  There are no costs arising from gift funding. 

 
   
Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee 

 Residents’ and Environmental Services 

   
Ward(s) affected 
 

 Uxbridge North, Uxbridge South, Brunel and the wider area.   

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Cabinet accepts the offer of a gift from VSM Estates in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 
INFORMATION 
 
Reasons for recommendation 
 
GVA Grimley, agents for VSM Estates, have advised officers that they intend to lodge a 
planning application for a residential led, mixed use scheme on the RAF Uxbridge site in the 
autumn of 2009. Prior to the submission of an application, there will be the need for on-going 
meetings, and the provision of consistent and timely advice as the masterplan evolves and the 
Environmental Impact Assessment is undertaken, along with other associated work. 

Agenda Item 8

Page 95



  
   

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

It is considered essential to have a dedicated officer for the project, and additional resources 
are needed to support that function. It is therefore considered appropriate that the Council 
should accept an offer of a gift to meet the reasonable and justifiable costs of carrying out these 
planning functions.   
 
Alternative options considered / risk management 
 
I. Refuse the gift from VSM. This would not be in the best interests of the London Borough of 
Hillingdon. 

 
II. Request changes to the proposed gift from VSM. It is not considered that it would be 

appropriate to seek to increase the amount of or scope of gift funding beyond what is 
legitimately required to cover the Council’s costs in providing the planning function.  It is 
also likely to be resisted by VSM. 

 
Comments of Policy Overview Committee(s) 
 
The Residents and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee have not commented 
on the report. 
 
Supporting Information 
 
RAF Uxbridge  
 

1. RAF Uxbridge is a strategically important site immediately adjacent to the Uxbridge town 
centre. The site has an area of 44.6ha, making it one of the largest development sites in 
West London, with a number of important attributes such as Listed Buildings, Green Belt 
land and areas of ecological importance. The site also has the potential to yield up to 
1,600 new homes, 35,000m2 of commercial floor space and a range of community 
facilities, infrastructure improvements and other benefits. The site is currently occupied 
by the Ministry of Defence (MoD), but will be vacated and available for redevelopment as 
RAF operations are consolidated on the RAF Northolt site. Vinci-St Modwen (VSM) will 
be submitting the relevant planning application(s) for redevelopment of the site, and have 
advised that submission of a planning application should be anticipated in the autumn of 
2009. 

 
2. Given the significance of the site and its importance to the Uxbridge town centre and the 

Borough, planning guidance has been prepared to inform the planning process and 
decision making for the future of the site. The RAF Uxbridge Supplementary Planning 
Document was adopted in January 2009, with support from the community and key 
stakeholders. Whilst the SPD sets out the requirements for development of the site, there 
needs to be on-going engagement with key stakeholders to help realise the objectives 
and requirements set out in the SPD.      

 
3. The pre-application process is an essential part of the planning system, as outlined in 

government guidance, such as Planning Policy Statement 1 - Delivering Sustainable 
Development, and the most recent DCLG Circular 03/09 – Costs awards in Appeals and 
other Planning Procedures. The Department of Communities and Local Government 
have also prepared guidance on this topic, to assist and encourage local authorities to 
pursue such initiatives, and this is detailed in Implementing Planning Performance 
Agreements, and there are a number of examples across there country where this 
approach has been used. The pre-application phase for this development will require the 

Page 96



  
   

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

commitment of significant resources exceeding that for most other projects in the 
borough. This will include project management, co-ordinating meetings, ensuring the 
provision of consistent and timely advice to key stakeholders, engaging the local 
community, and resolving complex issues as the masterplan evolves and the 
Environmental Impact Assessment is undertaken. It is essential that such issues are 
addressed through the pre-application process, rather than after submission.  

 
4. In order to meet the reasonable and justifiable costs to Council, and to ensure dedicated 

resources are provided to ensure the best outcomes for the project, it is considered 
appropriate that the Council should accept an offer of a gift in the order of £30,000 from 
VSM. The gift funding that is received would be strictly ring-fenced to ensure that it is 
spent in accordance with the terms of the gift, and the planning functions associated with 
RAF Uxbridge. 

 
5. Whilst the acceptance of a gift cannot in any way influence the outcome of the planning 

application, it can provide an adequate staffing resource to enable the development 
proposals to be afforded a higher level of priority than may otherwise be possible, 
particularly given the complexity and importance of this project. In this regard, a 
dedicated project officer would enable the resolution of issues and help realise the 
expectations of the Council through the planning process, to inform any planning 
application at the earliest possible stage, and also to provide a central contact for the 
community and key stakeholders. 

 
6. The Council have recently accepted gift funding in relation to various planning delivery 

agreements, including the discharge of its functions in producing the RAF Uxbridge 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), providing detailed planning advice and 
processing applications for RAF West Ruislip, and dealing with airport related planning 
applications.  

 
7. The alternative, to refuse the gift funding, would involve a series of chargeable pre-

application meetings, which is not likely to achieve the same objectives. Pre-application 
fees would not cover the costs of a project officer for such a large scale, complex and 
strategically important development. In addition to this, the gift would facilitate the 
dedication of additional resources to provide an important customer service to the 
community, as the dedicated officer would take a proactive approach to engaging with 
the community and various key stakeholders, ensuring the best possible planning 
outcomes. 

 
8. Cabinet is recommended to accept the gift funding of £30,000. If funding is not provided 

externally by VSM then these on-going costs will need to be met from existing Council 
resources.   

 
Financial Implications 
 
The offer of gift funding from VSM will cover the part time costs of an officer through the pre-
application process as outlined above, and this will provide additional resources to the Council 
to enable it to carry out its statutory planning functions. The offer is more than might normally be 
expected through pre-application fees.   
 
 
 
 

Page 97



  
   

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

EFFECT ON RESIDENTS, SERVICE USERS & COMMUNITIES 
 
What will be the effect of the recommendation? 
 
In terms of service user outputs the gift offers the opportunity to provide a higher standard of 
service than may otherwise be possible. A dedicated project officer would be proactive in 
engaging with various stakeholders, a central point of contact for enquiries and add value to the 
overall process. The project officer would facilitate the sharing of information, coordinating 
responses from Council to VSM and other stakeholders and ensure a consistent approach to 
deliver the best outcomes for redevelopment of the site. Such an approach is consistent with 
the latest guidance from government, and is in the best interests of achieving Councils 
objectives, as set out in the Sustainable Community Strategy. The gift offer is likely to finish with 
the submission of a planning application. 
 
Consultation Carried Out or Required 
 
None  
 
CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Corporate Finance 
 
The financial implications above properly reflect the direct resource implications for the planning 
service.  The gift proposed now is additional to the gift from VSM accepted by Cabinet in June 
2007 to fund the costs of preparing the RAF Uxbridge Supplementary Planning Document.  
There are no wider implications for the Council’s resources as a whole. 
 
Corporate Procurement 
 
Not applicable. 
 
Legal    
 
Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003 provides a general power to local authorities to 
charge for discretionary services.  Discretionary Services are those services that an authority 
has the power, but is not obliged, to provide. Through the power to recover via a charge the 
costs to an authority of providing a service, the government aims to encourage authorities to 
provide more wide ranging and new and innovative services for their communities. The Council 
may utilise this power if: 
 

§ the Council already has the power to provide the service, but is not mandated or has a 
duty to provide;  

§ the recipient of the discretionary service has agreed to its provision and to pay for it; 
 
Charges may be set differentially, so that different people are charged different amounts. The 
Council is not required to charge for discretionary services. They may provide them for free if 
they have the resources to do so. However, by virtue of Section 93 (4) there are limitations to 
the cost of recovery in that for “each kind of service” the income from charges for that service 
does not exceed the costs of provision.  Each Council can decide the methodology they wish to 
adopt for assessing the costs.  
 
 

Page 98



  
   

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

In planning terms, the effect of the above legislation is that the Council can provide extensions 
to statutory services including a range of advisory services linked to planning and development 
control. These are not a statutory requirement, but can make an important contribution to the 
operation of the statutory services. The Council are entitled to receive income for provision of 
the discretionary services so long as it does not exceed the cost of providing the service.  
 
To conform to government guidance the PPA ought to be negotiated by officers and properly 
formalised. In terms of member involvement, Members and officer should have regard to the 
helpful guidance on Members pre-application involvement set out in the Department of 
Communities and Local Government “Member Involvement in Planning Decisions”, published in 
January 2007. 
 
Corporate Property 
 
Not applicable. 
 
Relevant Service Groups 
 
No other service groups are directly impacted by the recommendation.  
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

• Planning Policy Statement 1 – Delivery Sustainable Development 
 

• Department of Communities and Local Government Guidance Circular 03/09 – Costs 
awards in Appeals and other Planning Procedures. 

 
• Department of Communities and Local Government Guidance - Constructive talk - 
Investing in pre-application discussions.  

 
• Department of Communities and Local Government - Guidance Note on Implementing 

Planning Performance Agreements 2007. 
 

• Department of Communities and Local Government “Member Involvement in Planning 
Decisions”, published in January 2007. 

Page 99



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



  
  

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

FORMER NATIONAL AIR TRAFFIC SERVICES (NATS) SITE - DRAFT 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT  
 
Cabinet Member  Councillor Keith Burrows 
   
Cabinet Portfolio  Planning and Transportation 
   
Officer Contact  Stephen Timms / Jales Tippell, Planning & Community Services 
   
Papers with report  Former National Air Traffic Services (NATS) site – Draft 

Supplementary Planning Document; Sustainability Appraisal, 
circulated separately. 

 
HEADLINE INFORMATION 
 
Purpose of report 
 

 To seek Cabinet approval to undertake public consultation on the 
Former National Air Traffic Services (NATS) site draft 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 

   
Contribution to our 
plans and strategies 

 The Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), by setting the 
development framework for the former NATS site and surrounding 
area, will help contribute to the Council’s priorities of improving 
health and wellbeing; creating strong and active communities; 
protecting and enhancing the environment; making Hillingdon 
safer; ensuring a thriving economy; and, improving aspiration 
through education and learning. 

   
Financial Cost  Inland Homes have agreed in principle to contribute to the 

preparation of the SPD, including the costs associated with 
consultation and officer time. If the offer of a gift is not agreed, the 
consultation process would need to be contained within the 
existing planning budgets. 

   
Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee 

 Residents’ and Environmental Services 

   
Ward(s) affected 
 

 The area covered by the SPD is located within the West Drayton 
ward, though any redevelopment of this large scale site may have 
implications for the wider area.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the Cabinet: 
 

1. Approves the Former National Air Traffic Services (NATS) site Draft Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) and the draft Sustainability Appraisal for consultation 
purposes; 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 101



  
  

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

2. Instructs officers to undertake a 6-week consultation exercise with interested 
groups and residents in the summer of 2009, and requests the Director of Planning 
and Community Services to report back on the responses to the consultation to a 
future meeting of the Cabinet. 

 
3. Grants delegated authority to the Director of Planning and Community Services to 

approve any minor amendments or corrections of a factual nature, as required, to 
the draft Supplementary Planning Document before it is formally placed on public 
exhibition. 

 
INFORMATION 
 
Reasons for recommendation 
 
The purpose of the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is to provide planning guidance 
for the future use and development of the former National Air Traffic Services (NATS) site, at 
Porters Way, West Drayton, along with the adjoining site owned by Council. The former NATS 
site has recently been acquired by Inland Homes, who intend to redevelop it. The Porters Way 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 2005, which covers the site, is considered to be out 
of date, given the number of legislative and policy changes since 2005, and needs to be 
updated. The preparation of the revised draft SPD will encourage the engagement of the local 
community in the planning process. This then ensures that the Council can incorporate the 
comments and ideas from the community into a planning document that will become a material 
consideration in making planning decisions. The process also engages local residents early in 
the preparation of ideas and plans for the site, which is important to add value to any 
redevelopment, and the long term success of creating sustainable communities.  
 
For these reasons, and the fact that the London Plan requires the preparation of planning 
guidance for sites of this size, it is considered necessary to update the SPD.  
 
Alternative options considered / risk management 
 
Not to proceed with updating the SPD. It is considered that this would restrict the Council’s 
ability to influence redevelopment of the site and may affect the ability to achieve wider 
planning, community and sustainability goals. 
 
The Cabinet may make revisions to the draft SPD prior to the public consultation. This is a valid 
option.  
 
Comments of Policy Overview Committee(s) 
 
None at this stage. 
 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The Council adopted planning guidance for the former RAF West Drayton/National Air 
Traffic Service (NATS) site at Porters way, West Drayton in December 2005. In January 2006, a 
public inquiry commenced to determine an appeal against the refusal of a scheme for 574 flats 
on the RAF West Drayton site. The Inspector considered the Council’s Supplementary Planning 
Guidance but nevertheless allowed the appeal. There have been various changes to legislation, 

Page 102



  
  

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

planning policy and guidance since 2005, and taken together with the planning history and the 
pressures for redevelopment of the NATS site, it is considered that the SPD needs to be 
updated. The most recent legislation and policy guidance will need to be incorporated into the 
updated Supplementary Planning Document. Of particular relevance to this site is a change in 
the general approach to planning and decision-making in London, in particular when dealing 
with the issue of ‘density’. The current Mayor of London expressed some concern about the 
previous decision-making process for schemes, in The Proposals for the Mayors London Plan, 
released 29 April 2009, which states that:  
 
On too many occasions in the past the clamour to achieve the maximum permissible densities 
has been the overriding concern for many new developments, sometimes to the detriment of 
their surroundings, existing environments and local social infrastructure.  
 
2. The Mayor expects that quality concerns will influence all development in London no 
matter the size. The Council is very keen to ensure that any future development on the NATS 
site and surroundings respect the local context and communities, and that opportunities to 
enhance the aesthetic appeal of the area, and infrastructure needs of the community are 
realised through appropriate redevelopment.  
 
3. The statutory basis for the preparation of the SPD is London Plan Policy 3A.7 (Large 
Residential Developments) which states that “Boroughs should prepare planning frameworks for 
all large residential sites of 5 hectares or more, or that are capable of accommodating more 
than 500 dwellings.” 
 
4. The SPD has been prepared within the context of the Hillingdon Unitary Development 
Plan Saved Policies September 2007 and other agreed Council standards, regional and 
national guidance. It will be consistent with draft overarching Local Development Framework 
(LDF) documents and when adopted as a SPD, will be a material consideration in the 
assessment of any planning application. The SPD will also help to realise a number of 
Hillingdon’s Sustainable Community Strategy objectives. Accompanying the draft SPD is the 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) which evaluates the SPD and ensures it meets the government's 
wider objectives for sustainable development. This can be viewed as a separate document.  
 
5. Due to the development pressures on this site, the SPD has been brought ahead of other 
relevant overarching draft Local Development Framework (LDF) documents.  
 
Site background 
 
6. The site is located on Porters Way, West Drayton, being approximately 800m east of 
West Drayton train station, and 1km from the West Drayton town centre. The site is located 
approximately 2.4km north of Heathrow Airport, and is in close proximity to Stockley Park, the 
M4, and other strategic routes. The site is bordered by the great western railway line to the 
north, Porters Way to the south, Mulberry Parade and residential buildings to the east, and 
residential areas of Kings Road, Hawthorne Crescent, and Holly Gardens to the west. Inland 
Homes have recently acquired the former NATS site, referred to as Area A in the draft SPD, 
which is 12.72ha in size. The council owns a parcel of land immediately adjacent to the NATS 
site, being 0.56ha in size and this is currently a mixed use three storey development of 12 shop 
units at ground floor with flats above, fronting Mulberry Parade.  
 
 
 
 

Page 103



  
  

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

Development framework 
 
7. The SPD sets out specific requirements for the design approach to redevelopment of the 
site, and any applications will require a masterplan and design codes to ensure a holistic, 
design led approach to redeveloping the site. The main objective is to ensure a high quality 
development for the site that will further enhance the appearance and character of the area, 
whilst being sympathetic to the largely suburban low-density context. The draft SPD sets out 
requirements to minimise impacts on the existing traffic network, improve public transport 
facilities, and particularly to improve the pedestrian environment and facilities for cyclists. The 
draft SPD also contains details to ensure a high quality landscape scheme, retaining existing 
trees and vegetation of high quality. The provision of useable and aesthetically appealing areas 
of public open space, and significant improvements to existing recreation opportunities, 
particularly Stockley recreation ground on Mulberry Parade, is required by the draft SPD.   
 
Requirements for specific uses 
 
8. The SPD sets out a range of specific uses for the site, with an expectation for a mixed-
use residential led scheme of high quality. It is likely that the site would yield a total of around 
600-800 dwellings, with a mix of flats and houses, to satisfy the local housing needs. The draft 
SPD reflects the requirements of the London Plan, for 50% affordable housing on the site with a 
70:30 ratio of social rented to intermediate. The provision of affordable housing will need to be 
appropriate to the context and specific local circumstances and needs. The draft SPD sets out 
detailed requirements and standards for housing, to comply with the council’s Hillingdon Design 
and Accessibility Statement guidance, including dwelling standards, amenity space, and the 
like. There are requirements for detailed studies to determine the appropriate scale of any 
commercial development, to further improve the existing retail and employment opportunities in 
the immediate area, whilst ensuring there will be no adverse impact on the viability and vitality 
of the existing town centre, and especially the existing shops on Mulberry Parade. There will be 
requirements for community facilities to be provided. This will be addressed mostly through 
s106 contributions, however, the draft SPD also expects the provision of a doctors surgery on 
the site, and a nursery/pre-school facilities on the site.  
 
Sustainable Development 
 
9. The draft SPD considers the important environmental and sustainable development 
considerations on the site looking at the need for any planning application to be accompanied 
by a range of environmental studies, including an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). The 
draft SPD contains guidance to ensure that no adverse environmental impacts will result from 
the redevelopment, and that a number of very positive and innovative aspirations are achieved. 
Climate change is considered to be a key issue. The incorporation of sustainable urban 
drainage systems (SUDS) will be integral to the development, and landscaping requirements 
will be integral to the aesthetic appeal of the site, with a range of other benefits. Airport 
safeguarding will also need to be given due consideration through the planning process. 
Innovative waste management is a further requirement for the site.  
 
Planning Obligations  
 
10. There will be a range of facilities and infrastructure improvements necessary to ensure 
the development does not have any adverse impacts on the surrounding area. These will 
include, though are not limited to:  
 

Page 104



  
  

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

• Transport infrastructure, to be determined through further traffic assessments. 
Improvements to the local road network, pedestrian and cycle facilities are expected.  

• Affordable Housing, with a particular emphasis for intermediate housing 
• Education contributions to support the additional child population and provision of a 

nursery on the site  
• Health, including investment to improve all health services, and the provision of a GP 

surgery on the site 
• Open Space, including improvements to existing recreation facilities, and on-site 

provision of play space for children 
• Public realm improvements to the site and surrounds, particularly the existing shops, and 

improved links to the West Drayton town centre 
• Contribution and/or provision of training and employment opportunities including 

construction training 
• Air quality, to ensure no adverse impacts arise from the development 
• Environmental improvements, including protection and improvements to landscaping and 

trees. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
Inland Homes have agreed in principle to contribute to the preparation of the SPD, including the 
costs associated with consultation and officer time. If the offer of a gift is not agreed, the 
consultation process would need to be contained within the existing planning budgets.  
 
EFFECT ON RESIDENTS, SERVICE USERS & COMMUNITIES 
 
What will be the effect of the recommendation? 
 
The recommendation ensures continued community involvement in the planning process to 
redevelop the site, through the further refinement and improvements to the SPD as necessary, 
following consultation with the local community and key stakeholders. The adoption of the SPD 
will enhance the weight that can be attached to it as a material consideration in decision-making 
on any planning application.  
 
The draft SPD has been prepared with consideration of existing planning policies which deal 
with issues associated with improving health and wellbeing; strong and active communities; 
protecting and enhancing the environment; making Hillingdon safer; a thriving economy and 
improving aspiration through education and learning.  
 
Consultation Carried out or required  
 
Public involvement through the preparation of the 2005 SPD has informed the preparation of 
this draft SPD. Advice from relevant service groups has also informed its preparation. Formal 
consultation on the draft SPD and supporting documents will be undertaken with other service 
groups and specialists within Council.  
 
In accordance with Planning Policy Statement 12 and the Council’s adopted Statement of 
Community Involvement, this updated draft SPD will be publicised and residents and other key 
stakeholders will be invited to comment. It is proposed that the consultation period will be for 6 
weeks, and will involve various meetings, exhibition days, and other initiatives to seek to ensure 
that local residents, groups, statutory bodies and all other relevant agencies are involved and 
listened to by the Council.   

Page 105



  
  

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

It is intended that feedback from the consultation will inform the final supplementary planning 
document, which will be reported to Cabinet for adoption. 
 
CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Corporate Finance 
 
A corporate finance officer has reviewed the report and its financial implications, and is satisfied 
that the financial implications properly reflect the direct resource implications for the Planning & 
Community Services Group, and that there are no wider implications at this stage for the 
Council’s resources as a whole.   
 
Legal 
 
There are two forms of local development documents: - supplementary planning documents and 
development plan documents. A supplementary planning document (SPD) is a statutory 
document, and the legal requirements in relation to its preparation and adoption as local 
development documents are prescribed by the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Development) (England) Regulations 2004 (the 2004 Regulations). An SPD must produced in 
accordance with the 2004 Regulations  
 
This report deals the approval by Cabinet of the first step in the three main steps in the SPD 
procedure. The 2004 Regulations require that:  
 

• a draft SPD is published and open to consultation for a period of not less than 4 weeks 
and not more than 6 weeks (regulation 17); 

• the consultation responses and representations are considered by the local planning 
authority (regulation 18); 

• the SPD is adopted by the local planning authority (regulation 19). 
 
The council’s constitution requires the Cabinet to collectively take key decisions to amend its 
policy framework. 
 
Section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on the local 
planning authority, and the Secretary of State to determine planning applications in accordance 
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
An SPD does not form part of the development plan. However, the SPD will form part of the 
Local Development Framework, and it will be a material consideration for the determination of 
planning applications on the Former NATS site. The weight to that will be given to an SPD is a 
matter for the decision maker. 
 
Relevant Service Groups 
 
Corporate Property 
 
The Head of Corporate Property does not raise any concerns with regard to the 
recommendations contained in this report. 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



  
  

 
Cabinet Report – 25 May 2009 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
§ Porters Way Planning Brief Supplementary Planning Document Dec 2005 
§ Porters Way Sustainability Appraisal, Dec 2005 
§ Planning Policy Statement 1: Sustainable development 
§ Supplement to PPS 1: Planning and Climate Change 
§ Planning Policy Statement 3: Housing 
§ Planning Policy Statement 6: Town Centres 
§ Planning Policy Statement 9: Biodiversity and Geological Conservation 
§ Planning Policy Guidance Note13: Transport 
§ Planning Policy Guidance Note 15: Planning and the Historic Environment 
§ The London Plan (Consolidated with Alterations since 2004) 2008 
§ London Borough of Hillingdon – Adopted Unitary Development Plan (adopted 1998) Saved 

Policies 27 September 2007 
§ SPD: Affordable Housing 
§ SPD: HDAS: Residential Layouts 
§ SPD: HDAS: Accessible Hillingdon 
§ SPG’s: Noise (2002), Planning Obligations (2008), Air Quality (2002), Community Safety 

by Design (2004) 
 

Page 107



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



Former National Air Traffic Services
(NATS) site 

Supplementary Planning Document 
Draft for Consultation 

Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Agenda Item 10

Page 183

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 186

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 187

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 192

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11

Page 193

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 200

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 12

Page 201

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 206

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 13

Page 207

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 214

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 215

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 216

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 14

Page 217

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 220

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 15

Page 221

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 226

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 16 April 2009
	5 Residents' and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee - Review of CCTV Strategy (Cllr Mills)
	Item 05 - Appendix CCTV FINAL REPORT FINAL VERSION

	6 Older People's Plan - Update 2008/09 (Cllr Puddifoot)
	Item 06 - APPENDIX 2. App 1 - OP Action Plan 2008-11 Q4 update v7.3 11.05.09 FINAL

	7 Changes to the Housing Allocation Policy (Cllr Corthorne)
	8 Gift Funding for Planning Functions (Cllr Burrows)
	9 Former National Air Traffic Services Site - Draft Supplementary Planning Document (Cllr Burrows)
	Item 9 - Appendix Former NATS site draft SPD for 28th May Cabinet

	10 Acceptance of Tender for a two storey for classroom extension at Pinkwell Primary School (Cllr Bianco)
	Item 10 - Appendix Tender Report Pinkwell Primary - 07.05.09(F)

	11 Roll Out of Phase II of the Libraries Refurbishment Programme         (Cllr Higgins)
	12 Extension of Frays Care and Repair Agency Contract (Cllr Corthorne)
	13 Mental Health Modernisation Programme - Phase 3 (Cllr Corthorne)
	Item 13 - Appendix to MH modernisation Cabinet report

	14 Spring Contract Extension - administrative and clerical agency staff (Cllr Seaman-Digby)
	15 Matrix Contract Extension - professional and technical agency staff (Cllr Seaman-Digby)

